
The full agenda packet can be found on the Planning Board webpage at: keenenh.gov/planning-board. 
 

 

City of Keene Planning Board - AMENDED 
 

AGENDA 
 

Monday, August 25, 2025 6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers 
 

A. AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1) Call to Order – Roll Call 
 
2) Minutes of Previous Meeting – July 28, 2025 
 
3) Extension Request 
 

a) PB-2025-01 – 2-lot Subdivision – Keene State College, 238-268 Main St – Owner, 
the University System of New Hampshire, requests a first extension to the deadline to 
satisfy the precedent conditions of approval for the proposed 2-lot subdivision of the 
parcel at 238-260 Main St (TMP# 590-101-000) into two lots ~0.48-ac and ~0.46-ac in 
size. The property is located in the Downtown Transition District. 

 
4) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 
 
5) Continued Public Hearing 

 
a) PB-2024-20 – Earth Excavation Permit Major Amendment & Hillside Protection 

Conditional Use Permit – Gravel Pit, 21 & 57 Route 9 – Applicant Granite Engineering 
LLC, on behalf of owner G2 Holdings LLC, proposes to expand the existing gravel pit 
located at 21 & 57 Route 9 (TMP#s 215-007-000 & 215-008-000). A Hillside Protection 
CUP is requested for impacts to steep slopes. Waivers are requested from Sections 
25.3.1.D, 25.3.3, 25.3.6, and 25.3.13 of the LDC related to the 250’ surface water 
resource setback, excavation below the water table, toxic or acid forming materials, 
and the 5-ac excavation area maximum. The parcels are a combined ~109.1-ac in size 
and are located in the Rural District. 

 
6) Master Plan Steering Committee Referral: 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan – The 

Master Plan Steering Committee voted to recommend that the Planning Board set a public 
hearing date for the adoption of the 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan, and refer the plan 
to City Council to endorse.  

 
7) Correspondence  

a) Letter from Ariane Ice dated August 8th, 2025 
 

8) Staff Updates 

1 of 77



The full agenda packet can be found on the Planning Board webpage at: keenenh.gov/planning-board. 
 

 
9) New Business 
 
10) Upcoming Dates of Interest 

• Special Planning Board Meeting – September 8th, 5:30 PM 
• Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – September 8th, 6:30 PM 
• Planning Board Steering Committee – September 16th, 12:00 PM 
• Planning Board Site Visit – September 24th, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed 
• Planning Board Meeting – September 29th, 6:30 PM 

 
B. MORE TIME ITEMS  

 
1. Potential Modifications to the Site Plan Review Thresholds 
2. Training on Site Development Standards – Snow Storage & Landscaping 

 
C. ADJOURNMENT 

2 of 77



DRAFT 

Page 1 of 23 
 

City of Keene 1 

New Hampshire 2 

 3 

 4 

PLANNING BOARD 5 

MEETING MINUTES 6 

 7 

Monday, July 28, 2025 6:30 PM Council Chambers, 
            City Hall  8 

Members Present: 
Harold Farrington, Chair 
Mayor Jay V. Kahn 
Councilor Michael Remy 
Sarah Vezzani 
Armando Rangel 
Ryan Clancy 
Kenneth Kost 
Michael Hoefer, Alternate 
 
Members Not Present: 
Roberta Mastrogiovanni, Vice Chair  
Tammy Adams, Alternate 
Randyn Markelon, Alternate 
Stephon Mehu, Alternate 
 
 

Staff Present: 
Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
Evan Clements, Planner 
Megan Fortson, Planner 
 

 9 

 10 

I) Call to Order – Roll Call 11 

 12 

Chair Farrington called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM and a roll call was taken. Mr. Hoefer 13 
was invited to join the meeting as a voting member. 14 
 15 
II) Minutes of Previous Meeting – June 23, 2025 16 

 17 

A motion was made by Mayor Kahn to accept the June 23, 2025, meeting minutes. The motion 18 
was seconded by Councilor Remy. 19 
Chair Farrington raised the following correction to Lines 140 and 141: change the sentence to 20 
indicate that SWRPC had already had their quarterly meeting and the Chair had already attended 21 
the meeting. Councilor Remy noted the Planning Board meeting was actually three days before 22 
the roundtable. It was agreed the sentence would be left as is. The motion carried on a 23 
unanimous vote. 24 
 25 
 26 
 27 
 28 
 29 

3 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 2 of 23 
 

III) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 30 

 31 

Chair Farrington stated this is a new, standing agenda item.  As a matter of practice, the Board 32 
will now issue a final vote on all conditionally approved plans after all of the “conditions 33 
precedent” have been met.  This final vote will be the final approval and will start the 30-day 34 
appeal clock. He asked staff whether there were any applications tonight that were ready for a 35 
final vote. 36 
 37 
Ms. Brunner stated there is one application tonight that is ready for a final vote. 38 
Boundary Line Adjustment Project PB-2025-10 for 37 and 38 Grimes Road. 39 
There were four conditions precedent, including the owner's signature appear on the proposed 40 
plan;  Submittal of four full size paper copies and a digital copy of the final plans;  Submittal of a 41 
check to cover the cost of recording;  Inspection of lot monuments by the Public Works Director 42 
or their designee. All of these conditions have been met. 43 
 44 
A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board issue final site plan approval for 45 

PB-2025-10. The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn and carried on a unanimous vote. 46 

 47 
IV) Extension Request  48 

a) PB-2025-03 – Major Site Plan – Douglas Company Inc., 0 Black Brook Rd - 49 
Owner Douglas Company Inc., requests a first extension to the deadline to satisfy the  50 

precedent conditions of approval for the proposed construction of an ~98,323-sf office and 51 
warehouse building on two parcels at 0 Black Brook Rd (TMP#s 221-023- 000 & 221-024-000). 52 
The parcels are a combined ~5.33-ac in size and are located in the Corporate Park District. 53 
 54 

Mr. John Noonan of Fieldstone Land Consultants addressed the Board on behalf of Douglas 55 
Company. He stated his client, Douglas Company, was looking for a time extension on the 56 
conditional approval. 57 
He stated the applicant has almost all of the necessary items to meet the conditions of approval; 58 
however, tariffs have impacted their business, and they are waiting to see how much more of an 59 
impact tariffs are going to have on their operations.  60 
 61 
A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board grant a six-month extension to 62 
satisfy the precedent conditions of approval for PB-2025-03. The motion was seconded by 63 
Mayor Kahn. 64 
 65 

The Mayor stated he has been in contact with the applicant and felt this is an unfortunate 66 
situation that the applicant is facing. The Mayor continued by stating this is a concern that has 67 
been shared with the congressional delegation and the Governor’s Office. He hopes this situation 68 
would be resolved soon, because Douglas Company is an important business in Keene and has a 69 
huge economic impact for the City.  70 
 71 
The motion for extension carried on a unanimous vote. 72 
 73 

 74 

 75 

 76 

4 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 3 of 23 
 

 77 

b) PB-2024-23 – Major Site Plan & Surface Water Protection Conditional Use 78 
Permit – Shooting Range, 19 Ferry Brook Rd – Owner Cheshire County Shooting  79 

Sports Education Foundation Inc., requests a first extension to the deadline to satisfy the 80 
precedent conditions of approval for the proposed modification to the approved site plan for the 81 
shooting range at 19 Ferry Brook Rd (TMP #214-021-000). A Surface Water Protection 82 
Conditional Use Permit was requested to allow a gravel shooting berm and other existing site 83 
features to be located within the 75’ surface water buffer. The parcel is 55-ac in size and is 84 
located in the Rural District. 85 
 86 

The Chair asked to be recused from this application. 87 
 88 
A motion was made by Armando Rangel to elect Councilor Remy to serve as the Chair Pro-89 
Tempore. The motion was seconded by Kenneth Kost and was unanimously approved.  90 
 91 

Ms. Liza Sargent of SVE Associates, representing the Cheshire County Shooting Sports 92 
Education Foundation (CCSSEF), and Mr. Otto Busher of CCSSEF addressed the Board. Ms. 93 
Sargent stated that the applicant has met three out of the five conditions precent and are looking 94 
for a time extension, particularly for financial reasons, so that they can pay for the expense of the 95 
landscape security. She also added they could not replicate the wetlands in the winter and are 96 
going to address that during the summer. 97 
 98 
A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board grant a six-month extension to 99 
satisfy the precedent conditions of approval for PB-2024-23. The motion was seconded by Sarah 100 
Vezzani and was unanimously approved. 101 
 102 
Chair Farrington rejoined the Board. 103 
 104 
Item VI was moved up in the agenda. 105 
 106 

V) Correspondence & Board Discussion – Alleged Violation of the Earth Excavation 107 
Regulations – Mr. James Manley of 67 Tyler Lane in Sullivan has submitted a complaint related 108 
to the visibility of the gravel pit located at 21 & 57 Route 9 (TMP#s 215-007-000 & 215-008-109 
000) from the adjacent state highway. The Board will consider whether further investigation of 110 
the alleged violation is warranted and whether to delegate enforcement to Code Enforcement 111 
staff. 112 
 113 
Mari Brunner, Senior Planner, addressed the Board and stated the Planning Board is the 114 
Regulating Body for earth excavation regulations, as stated in State Statute and the Local 115 
Ordinance, specifically in Article 25 of the Land Development Code. She stated the City 116 
received this complaint in May, which is for five separate sections of the earth excavation 117 
regulations that are cited in the complaint. 118 
She stated Staff recommend that the Board delegate its authority of enforcement to Code 119 
Enforcement Staff, because there is an ongoing and active application for an expansion of the 120 
same gravel pit. She stated the reasoning for that is to keep the two items separate and reduce 121 
any potential conflicts of interest. 122 
Alternatively, the Board could choose to adjudicate the complaint, in which case the Board 123 
would need to make a decision as to whether or not the Board wants to continue looking into this 124 

5 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 4 of 23 
 

and set a public hearing for the next meeting date. If the Board takes this approach, there would 125 
be a deliberation about the complaint as to whether or not there is a violation, and, if so, what the 126 
remedy would be.  127 
 128 
Councilor Remy felt this Board is not set up to do enforcement. He continued by stating the City 129 
does have full time Code Enforcement Staff and felt it made sense to assign this task to Staff. 130 
 131 
A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board authorize Code Enforcement 132 
Staff to enforce the earth excavation regulations in Article 25 of the Land Development Code, 133 
including the current complaint and all future complaints in the chapter.  The motion was 134 
seconded by Sarah Vezzani. 135 
 136 
Mr. Clancy agreed with Councilor Remy. Mr. Clancy added if the Board does choose to delegate 137 
the enforcement of the current complaint to Staff, would Staff mention how the public can follow 138 
along for the minutes and to anyone watching at home.  Ms. Brunner responded by saying to 139 
check the status, there is an online portal that the public has access to, and the public can also 140 
reach out to Community Development Staff as to an update.  141 
 142 
The motion was unanimously approved. 143 
 144 
 145 

VI) Public Hearings  146 
a) SPR-440, Mod. 1 – Major Site Plan - Veterinary Hospital Addition, 686 Court St 147 

– Applicant HDA Architects, Inc, on behalf of owner Court Street Veterinary Hospital, proposes 148 
to construct an ~2,092-sf addition and renovate the existing veterinary hospital located at 686 149 
Court St (TMP# 228-008-000). The parcel is 4.2-ac in size and is located in the High Density 150 
District. 151 
 152 
A. Board Determination of Completeness 153 
 154 
Planner Evan Clements stated the applicant has requested exemptions from submitting a grading 155 
plan, landscape plan, lighting plan, and all technical reports. After reviewing each request, 156 
Planning Staff have made the preliminary determination that granting the requested exemptions 157 
would have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that the Board accept the 158 
application as complete. 159 
 160 
A motion was made by Michael Hoefer to accept Application PB-2025-10 as complete. The 161 
motion was seconded by Councilor Remy. 162 
 163 
The Mayor stated he agrees with Staff in waiving these three requirements. He drives past this 164 
site often and notices grading, landscape and lighting are in place and understands the request for 165 
this waiver. 166 
 167 
Completeness waiver carried on a unanimous vote. 168 
 169 
 170 
 171 
B. Public Hearing 172 

6 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 5 of 23 
 

 173 
Mr. Peter Hill from HDA Architects and Mr. Timothy Russett, one of the owners, addressed the 174 
Board. Mr. Hill stated the existing concrete block façade has faded and they would like to 175 
replace it with siding. The building would also have a new entrance, and the overall exterior of 176 
the building is being enhanced. The site would offer services, such as physical therapy, which is 177 
not available in the area right now.  178 
 179 
Mayor Kahn stated one of the concerns many pet owners have in the community is relative to 180 
after hour calls for emergency services. He asked whether this expansion is something the 181 
applicant was planning on offering.  Mr. Tim Russett, one of the owners, stated the Veterinary 182 
Hospital doesn't offer emergency services after hours currently and the proposed addition would 183 
not provide that service. This is not a service any facility in the area offers. He stated they  184 
have a working program with a Telemed company if someone chooses not to take their pet to 185 
emergency care. He stated the Telemed is referred to as Vet Triage and is a site that is available 186 
on their website. This site enables you to talk to a live veterinarian.  187 
The Mayor asked whether this site expects to see an increase to traffic. Mr. Hill stated the 188 
volume will remain neutral. He stated this site has a grooming facility that is being taken out and 189 
explained grooming services brings in a lot more traffic compared to a typical vet service.  190 
 191 
Staff comments were next. Mr. Clements addressed the Board and stated the subject parcel is an 192 
existing 4.2-acre lot located on the western side of Court Street and approximately 0.5 miles 193 
from the Cheshire Medical Center roundabout. The property abuts the Ashuelot River to the rear 194 
and contains an existing 7,106 square foot one story building that serves as the location of Court 195 
Street Veterinary Hospital. He noted the associated site improvements on the property include 196 
two street access points with driveways and a parking lot that wraps around the building and 197 
provides 33 parking spaces.  198 
 199 
He went on to say that the existing non-conforming use of the property is a veterinary hospital, 200 
which is considered an Animal Care Facility under Article 8.3.2.B of the Land Development 201 
Code. The use is considered non-conforming as an Animal Care Facility is not normally allowed 202 
in the High-Density District. In 1984, the property received approval from the Zoning Board of 203 
Adjustment (ZBA) for a change of Nonconforming Use from a tree service business to a 204 
veterinary hospital.  205 
 206 
In 1989, the property received approval from the ZBA for an Enlargement of a Nonconforming 207 
Use to build an addition. In 2020, again the property received approval from the ZBA for another 208 
Enlargement of a Nonconforming Use and in 2025 the property received approval from the ZBA 209 
for a third Enlargement of a Nonconforming Use, which is the reason the applicant is here before 210 
the Board this evening.  211 
 212 
Mr. Clements went on to say the purpose of this application is to seek approval for the 2,100 213 
square foot addition. No additional changes to the site are proposed besides the construction of 214 
the addition. The project meets the threshold for major site plan review, because this addition is 215 
greater than 15% of the gross floor area of the existing principal building. 216 
 217 
With reference to drainage, sediment and erosion control, snow storage, landscaping. 218 
screening, lighting, sewer and water, filling and excavation, surface water and wetlands, 219 
hazardous and toxic materials and noise, the proposed changes to the site are minimal. 220 

7 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 6 of 23 
 

Those standards are either not applicable, or they meet the requirements as needed. 221 
 222 
The traffic and access management, with the removal of the pet grooming facility that the 223 
applicant referred to, would result in a minimal net change in trips. The site is well designed to 224 
handle vehicular and pedestrian traffic through the site itself. The standard appears to be met. 225 
 226 
Mr. Clements stated architectural and visual appearance is the focus of this application. The 227 
applicant has stated in their narrative that the proposed addition was designed to preserve the 228 
harmonious character of the existing building.  The gable entry that is supported by tapered 229 
columns and large windows are incorporated to promote visual interest on the street facing 230 
facade. The applicant also notes that the design reduces the massive aesthetic effects and is 231 
harmonious with the City’s distinctive architectural identity, unique character, and prevailing 232 
scale. Proposed materials include vinyl siding, fiber cement trim and decorative wood trusses. 233 
 234 
He added the proposed color palette is a muted gray and cream. He noted  235 
21.14.2 Visual Interest - Front facades and exterior walls shall be articulated to express an 236 
architectural identity to avoid a uniform appearance, and architectural details shall give the 237 
impression of being integral to and compatible with the overall design.  238 
 239 
Architectural features shall conform to accepted architectural principles of design and 240 
construction. 241 
 242 
Exterior materials, textures, and colors shall minimize visual aggressiveness and shall 243 
harmonize with the City’s distinctive architectural identity and unique character. Surfaces with 244 
glossy finishes, reflective glass or dark tinted exteriors, or untreated aluminum, stainless steel, 245 
or metal exterior finishes shall be discouraged. 246 
 247 
Modifications and additions to existing structures shall be harmonious with the character of the 248 
existing structure. 249 
 250 
Mr. Clements stated Staff doesn't really weigh in on this but would encourage the Board to 251 
discuss the proposed architectural changes in the addition to see if those standards are met. He 252 
added Staff is recommending final approval on this application this evening, considering the 253 
nature of the lot, the minimal amount of earth work that will be required to construct the 254 
addition, no additional landscaping, no work in the public right of way, and no normal securities. 255 
The only outstanding item was the final plan sets signed by the property owner, which Staff did 256 
receive this evening. He added that as long as there are no changes necessitated from the 257 
Planning Board, Staff believe this application is ready for final approval. 258 
 259 
The Chair asked for public comment.  Ms. Paula Souza, Director of Sophia’s Hearth and abutter 260 
to the north, addressed the Board. Ms. Souza stated, as a neighbor, they are in support of this 261 
application and wish the applicant well. With no further comments, the Chair closed the public 262 
hearing. 263 
 264 
 265 
 266 
 267 
C. Board Discussion and Action 268 

8 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 7 of 23 
 

 269 

A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board approve SPR-440, Mod. 1 as 270 
shown on the plan set identified as “Court Street Vet Hospital” prepared by HAD Architects, Inc. 271 
at varying scales dated June 20, 2025 and last revised July 10, 2025 with no conditions. 272 
The Councilor stated he sees no regional impact from this application. 273 
The motion was seconded by Sarah Vezzani. 274 
 275 
The Chair stated he agrees with Councilor Remy that there is no regional impact and felt this was 276 
an attractive building.  277 
 278 
Ms. Vezzani stated this site fits in with the neighborhood and is happy to see it come to fruition. 279 
 280 
The motion carried on a unanimous vote. 281 
 282 
 283 

b) PB-2025-14 – Surface Water Protection Conditional Use Permit – Eversource T198 284 
Transmission Line – Applicant Normandeau Associates, Inc, on behalf of owner Public Service 285 
Company of New Hampshire (dba Eversource Energy), proposes to 1 of 83 The full agenda 286 
packet can be found on the Planning Board webpage at: keenenh.gov/planning-board. replace 287 
twelve structures along the T198 Transmission Line. The proposed work area begins north of 288 
NH Route 101 and continues south to the Swanzey town border. This project will temporarily 289 
impact ~102,332-sf of the Surface Water Protection Buffer for temporary access and work pad 290 
placement. 291 
 292 
A. Board Determination of Completeness 293 
 294 
Planner, Megan Fortson, stated the applicant has requested exemptions from submitting a 295 
grading plan, landscaping plan, lighting plan, and all technical reports. After reviewing each 296 
request, Planning Staff have made the preliminary determination that granting the requested 297 
exemptions would have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that the 298 
Board accept the application as complete. 299 
 300 
A motion was made by Councilor Remy to accept Application PB-2025-14 as complete. The 301 
motion was seconded by Sarah Vezzani and was unanimously approved. 302 
 303 
B. Public Hearing 304 
Elizabeth Oliver, Normando Associates, and Jeremy Fennell, Licensing and Permitting for 305 
Eversource Energy, addressed the Board. Ms. Oliver stated they are before the Board regarding 306 
the T198 structure line maintenance project. She indicated they would like to replace 12 existing 307 
utility structures, which have reached the end of their expected lifespan. Impacts are related to 308 
the removal of the pole butts for the existing structures and the replacement of those poles with 309 
weathered steel metal structures. All other impacts will consist of temporary timber matting to 310 
allow access and construction of work pads necessary to complete the structure replacements. 311 
 312 
Councilor Remy clarified the applicant just mentioned weathered steel and asked whether this 313 
was going to be different from what is seen today. Ms. Oliver stated what they have today are 314 

9 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 8 of 23 
 

wooden poles and these are being replaced with weathered steel poles. There will be some visual 315 
differences but not a lot. Mr. Fennell added the wooden poles in existence have been around 316 
since the 60’s and are now weathered to a lighter brown, so the new ones will blend well. 317 
Mr. Kost asked whether the steel poles would add to the resiliency of the system. Mr. Fennell 318 
answered in the affirmative and stated the hope is that these new poles would have a life span of 319 
50 years. The wood poles are susceptible to things like insects over time.  320 
 321 
Councilor Remy asked whether there would be any interruption to service during construction.  322 
Mr. Fennell stated they are not anticipating any outages. 323 
 324 
Chair Farrington noted the narrative indicated the work extends to the Swanzey border but noted 325 
133 and 132 actually are in Swanzey.  Mr. Fennell stated not all poles are being replaced; 326 
specifically, they are starting at structure 145, which is on the north side of Route 101, and 327 
ending on structure 133, which straddles Swanzey. The Chair asked whether the applicant 328 
anticipates any impacts to accessing the Keene State College athletic fields or the Rail Trail. Mr. 329 
Fennell stated they will be accessing Krif Road and they are working with Keene State College 330 
to minimize impact. He added this project has quite a few “time of year” restrictions for wildlife, 331 
which is pushing the project into the fall and winter seasons. He added there will be no impact on 332 
the rail trail.  333 
 334 
Councilor Remy asked whether the impacted wetland area will be brought back to its original 335 
condition. Ms. Oliver answered in the affirmative. 336 
 337 
Mr. Kost clarified that the impact to the 300 square feet of 75-foot wetland buffer wetland will 338 
not be mitigated. Ms. Oliver stated those are associated with placement of the poles and they are 339 
assuming a certain square footage of permanent disturbance for each pole footing; in addition, 340 
each structure has two pole footings. 341 
 342 
The Chair commended the applicant for working with Keene State and encouraged them to do 343 
the same with the group who represent the Rail Trail. 344 
 345 
Mayor Kahn asked what happens to the wires and whether they would be crossing the road.  346 
Mr. Fennell stated structure work is being done on both sides of the road but are not anticipating 347 
any kind of disruption to those roads. He added they might retain the service of police detail on 348 
Route 101 when transferring wires but are not anticipating replacing wires on those roads. The 349 
Mayor stated he is referring to the dashed line. Ms. Oliver stated the yellow dashed line 350 
represents the center line of the access route that the construction teams will follow for building 351 
the access roads. This has nothing to do with the wires. The plans do not represent wires as they 352 
are overhead and won’t have any impact on road closures. 353 
 354 
Staff comments were next. 355 
 356 
Ms. Fortson stated, as was mentioned by the applicants, that the T198 transmission line runs 357 
through portions of Keene, Swanzey, Marlborough and Troy for about 11 miles and has a right 358 
of way width of 150 feet. Within the City of Keene, the proposed project area will cross through 359 
several different zoning districts, including the high density, commerce, industrial and 360 
agricultural districts. These different districts require different buffer widths from surface waters 361 
and wetlands. They range from 30 feet up to 75 feet. 362 

10 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 9 of 23 
 

 363 
Ms. Fortson noted this project is for the replacement of 12 existing utility structures and there are 364 
temporary impacts proposed of around 56,000 square feet to wetlands, 102,000 square feet to the 365 
surface water buffer area, permanent impacts of about 140 square feet in the wetlands and 300 366 
square feet in the surface water buffer. 367 
 368 
This application required the submittal of a conditional use permit under two different sections of 369 
Article 11, which are the surface water protection overlay district standards. 370 
One of the standards is for the construction of the temporary access roads. The applicant would 371 
use this to access the work areas. The other standard is for the removal and replacement of new 372 
structures within the surface water buffer. Ms. Fortson noted any impacts to actual wetlands is 373 
reviewed through a wetlands permit by the State. The Board has purview over the surface water 374 
buffer, either 30 feet or 75 feet, and for consistency's sake, the applicant has provided a blanket 375 
75-foot buffer through the entire work area. 376 
 377 
In terms of regional impact, although the project is going to span municipal boundaries, this is an 378 
ordinary maintenance and repair project. Hence, Staff do not feel this project had the potential 379 
for regional impact. 380 
 381 
Ms. Fortson stated the only departmental comments the application received were that under the 382 
State of New Hampshire Regulations, public utility transmission line associated structures are 383 
exempt from the local building permit process. However, portions of the structure are located 384 
within the floodplain, which will require the submittal of a floodplain development permit.  385 
 386 
Ms. Fortson next reviewed the applicable standards. The first standard states that the proposed 387 
use and/or activity cannot be located in a manner to avoid encroachment into the surface water 388 
protection overlay district. Because this is an existing transmission line where work is being 389 
done, due to site constraints and the existing structure locations, it would be unreasonable to ask 390 
the applicant to relocate the entire utility line.  391 
 392 
The second standard states that encroachment into the buffer area has been minimized to the 393 
maximum extent possible. 394 
Ms. Fortson stated the applicant has indicated in the narrative that because the proposed project 395 
area is located within an existing right of way and current utilities are at the end of their life 396 
expectancy, there are inherent limitations in terms of the changes that can be made. The 397 
applicant will be using timber matting to establish temporary work pads and access routes to 398 
minimize impacts to the wetlands and upland structures. Access routes will be created to follow 399 
existing upland walking trails and structures will be shifted further away from the wetlands when 400 
possible. 401 
 402 
The third standard relates to minimizing impacts to the surface water buffer. 403 
The applicant has provided several examples of where they are trying to create wetland crossings 404 
in areas where there are already walking trails. They plan to move structures out of the surface 405 
water buffer. They are also going to be using timber matting to minimize disturbance and the 406 
wetlands areas will be reclaimed with an appropriate native seed mix. 407 
 408 
Ms. Fortson stated the applicants did attend the Conservation Commission meeting last Monday 409 
and the feedback provided by the Conservation Commission was that they recommend that a 410 

11 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 10 of 23 
 

pollinator friendly seed mix be used and that any material brought onto the site be checked for 411 
invasive species.  412 
 413 
Ms. Fortson reviewed the Board’s last standard, which states that the Board can use certain items 414 
to determine whether or not the proposed encroachment will result in adverse impacts on the 415 
surface water resource. In that section of their narrative, the applicant provided an interesting 416 
breakdown of the wetlands that run through this area. They indicate that the wetlands consist of 417 
scrub shrub emergent and wet meadow wetlands. The wetlands north of Krif Road are 418 
hydrologically separate from the Ashuelot River due to the surrounding development. The 419 
wetlands south of Krif Road are part of the complex of flood plain wetlands contiguous to the 420 
Ashuelot River, which makes them more valuable. 421 
 422 
Ms. Fortson stated the recommended motion included in the staff report is for final approval. The 423 
department has received final plan sets that have been signed by the property owner. 424 
She noted this type of application is not something the City would typically require security for 425 
due to the size of the area that is going to be affected as part of this work. She reviewed what is 426 
outlined in the motion. 427 
 428 
Mr. Clancy asked whether it would be the City’s responsibility to make sure the proper plantings 429 
have been planted at the conclusion of the project, or whether it would be up to the State.  Ms. 430 
Fortson stated this would be the City’s responsibility.  431 
 432 
The Chair asked for public comment, with no comment from the public, the Chair closed the 433 
public hearing.  434 
 435 

C. Board Discussion and Action 436 
 437 

A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board issue final approval on PB-438 
2025-14 as shown on the plan set identified as, “T198 Maintenance Project” prepared by 439 
Normandeau Associates Environmental Consultants at varying scales on June 17, 2025 with the 440 
following conditions subsequent to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning 441 
Board Chair:  442 
1. Prior to the commencement of work, the following conditions shall be met:  443 

a. The submittal of approved permit numbers for all necessary local, state, and federal 444 
permit applications, including but limited to:  445 

i.   An approved Floodplain Development Permit from the City of Keene Community 446 
Development Department.  447 

ii.  Temporary Street Access Permits for each access point from the public right-of-way 448 
from the City of Keene Public Works Department.  449 

iii. Approved Wetlands, Alteration of Terrain, and Shorelands Permits from the New 450 
Hampshire Department of Environmental Services.  451 

iv. An approved General Permit from the US Army Corps of Engineers and a 2022 452 
General Construction Permit from the US Environmental Protection Agency.  453 

v. Any other local, state, or federal permits deemed applicable to the proposed scope of 454 
work by the appropriate decision-making authority.  455 
   b. The submittal of a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan to the Community 456 
Development Department for review and comment by the City Engineer. 457 
 458 

12 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 11 of 23 
 

 459 
The motion was seconded by Sarah Vezzaani. 460 
 461 
Councilor Remy stated he agrees with the recommended conditions of approval. He felt the last 462 
pole is outside the Swanzey line and hence there was no regional impact.  463 
 464 
The Chair asked whether the Conservation Commission’s recommendation should be included in 465 
the recommended motion. Mr. Clancy felt this was a standard recommended motion but felt the 466 
applicant has worked in the State and is probably aware of what should or should not be planted 467 
and did not feel that recommendation needs to be included.  468 
 469 
Mr. Kost stated this was standard operating practice but adding the pollinator friendly seed mix 470 
would be helpful. He noted the statement regarding invasive species and felt that should be 471 
included.  472 
 473 
Councilor Remy amended his motion to add the following language: During construction, all 474 
materials brought in are inspected for invasive species of plants and animals and that remediation 475 
is done with local pollinator friendly seed mix. 476 
The amendment was seconded by Sarah Vezzani.  477 
The applicant was in agreement to the amendment. 478 
 479 
The amended motion carried on a unanimous vote.  480 
 481 
The Mayor asked the applicant for the status of approvals from the other communities.  482 
 483 
Ms. Oliver stated they received special exception to work in the floodplain in Swanzey from 484 
their Zoning Board of Adjustment. They will be attending a public hearing in Troy at their 485 
Planning Board meeting in August. The Mayor asked for the timing of this project. Mr. Fennell 486 
stated some structure work would start in October and continue through the end of the year. 487 
Once the wetland permits are obtained, they will continue with the rest of the work next year, 488 
and finish around 2027. The agreement with the wildlife group is that there will be periods when 489 
the work is stopped. 490 
 491 
The Mayor asked whether the Board has a basis to include some kind of acknowledgment from 492 
the college regarding the scope of work. Councilor Remy stated the applicant has indicated they 493 
are working with the college and that any impact to access will be mitigated. He added if the 494 
lines are not coming down, he wasn’t sure how much impact there would be to this access. The 495 
Mayor felt there are cross country paths along that way and there is a parking lot that could be 496 
impacted due to the proximity to those lines and did not feel this is an onerous request to ask for 497 
this acknowledgement. 498 
 499 
 500 
Ms. Fortson, in response, stated in 2021-2022, Keene had a few surface water protection 501 
applications for different transmission lines to replace wires and poles similar to what is 502 
proposed today. She stated it is not standard practice that the City would facilitate that type of 503 
communication between a property owner and another property owner who is doing the work. 504 
She noted Eversource is not the property owner, but there are easements in place. 505 

13 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 12 of 23 
 

She stated it is not the role of the Planning Board to try to facilitate communication between two 506 
different parties. She felt the Board can make it a recommendation as it is being discussed but 507 
did not feel it was appropriate to make it a condition of approval. 508 
 509 
Councilor Remy agreed with Staff and felt the Board will be singling out this one user. 510 
He agreed that this project has a very large impact, based on the footprint, but stated he does not 511 
feel comfortable adding a condition. 512 
 513 
Ms. Brunner stated, in looking back at applications before this Board, one application the Board 514 
had approved on Old Gilsum Road functions as a trail and is a popular Class 6 Road. She stated 515 
the City worked very closely with Eversource to understand the schedule and communicated that 516 
information to the public. She stated a potential motion could be to recommend clear 517 
communication with the City and then the City, when appropriate, could provide communication 518 
to the public in general, which would include Keene State College. 519 
 520 
Chair Farrignton stated he agrees with Staff and Councilor Remy, and felt it was comparable to 521 
the application the Board recently approved on Island Street on a parcel of land which was used 522 
for construction storage. This was an area where kayakers would usually walk through so a note 523 
to communicate was not made a condition, but signs were located to warn the public. 524 
 525 
A motion was made by Mayor Kahn that the Planning Board add an additional condition that the 526 
schedule of work be shared through public announcements and communication to abutters. The 527 
motion was seconded by Councilor Remy. 528 
 529 
Mr. Rangel clarified Ms. Brunner had indicated communication would be provided to the City 530 
and the City would then notify abutters. However, the motion seems to indicate the applicant 531 
would notify the public and asked whether this was the Mayor’s intention. Councilor Remy felt 532 
the motion leaves it open to the applicant to notify the City and then the City notify the public or 533 
the applicant would notify the public. The Mayor stated that was his intention. 534 
 535 
The motion failed 1-7 vote with Mayor Kahn voting in favor.  536 
 537 
The original motion for PB-2025-14 carried on a unanimous vote. 538 
 539 
 540 
 541 
 542 
 543 

 544 
c) PB-2024-20 – Earth Excavation Permit Major Amendment & Hillside Protection 545 

Conditional Use Permit – Gravel Pit, 21 & 57 Route 9 – Applicant Granite Engineering LLC, 546 
on behalf of owner G2 Holdings LLC, proposes to expand the existing gravel pit located at 21 & 547 
57 Route 9 (TMP#s 215-007-000 & 215-008-000). A Hillside Protection CUP is requested for 548 
impacts to steep slopes. Waivers are requested from Sections 25.3.1.D, 25.3.3, 25.3.6, and 549 
25.3.13 of the LDC related to the 250’ surface water resource setback, excavation below the 550 
water table, toxic or acid forming materials, and the 5-ac excavation area maximum. The parcels 551 
are a combined ~109.1-ac in size and are located in the Rural District. 552 
 553 

14 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 13 of 23 
 

Chair Farrington addressed the public and indicated all comments would be directed through the 554 
Chair. He indicated he would first invite direct abutters to address the Board, followed by 555 
residents of Keene and Sullivan, and then other interested parties. He stated, because of the 556 
number of people present today, he will be setting a three-minute limit for each speaker. Once 557 
everyone has had a turn, he would provide an opportunity for a speaker to address the Board a 558 
second time, only if they have new information to share.  559 
 560 
Attorney Ariane Ice, representing G2 Holdings, addressed the Board first and stated she is 561 
surprised to hear all of the instructions about how the hearing will be moving forward tonight. 562 
She stated her understanding was that Staff were recommending a continuance of the application. 563 
She stated they have also submitted their own request for continuance. Attorney Ice explained 564 
Code requirement in Keene indicates if you are submitting an earth excavation permit, the 565 
applicant is required, at their expense, to pay for third party reviewers to assist Staff and the 566 
Board in reviewing the application. She noted they were before the Board a couple months ago 567 
and the applicant is anxious to get this completed application submitted with all the required 568 
information. However, at the 11th hour, the third-party reviewer, Fieldstone Land Consultants, 569 
has indicated that certain elements of the application were not under their purview and has 570 
requested a different third-party reviewer to be brought on board, which is a hydrogeologist. This 571 
work has begun but is not complete yet. 572 
 573 
Attorney Ice noted the applicant has paid nearly $20,000 to these reviewers to complete the 574 
technical elements of this application. She indicated the new third-party reviewer, Sanborn, is 575 
still asking for additional data, and this is the reason for the continuance. She noted the applicant 576 
is not present today as they were requesting continuance. Attorney Ice asked that the continuance 577 
be granted and that no testimony is taken from members of the public. She noted one of the 578 
waivers as part of this application has been withdrawn, based on feedback from the third-party 579 
reviewers. She felt taking comments from the public is premature as they are not ready to 580 
response to those comments. 581 
 582 
The Chair stated he is sympathetic to the applicant’s situation and the additional cost being 583 
incurred. He stated the reason the Board is permitting public comment is because this meeting 584 
was noticed prior to becoming evident a continuance was going to be requested by the applicant. 585 
Attorney Ice felt this would be very unfair to the applicant, and stated this continuance was 586 
requested by staff. She felt they would now need to rebut testimony made tonight at next 587 
month’s meeting. She felt it was prejudicial to hold a hearing and not permit the continuance, 588 
which the Board’s Staff is recommending. She felt taking testimony from the public is denying 589 
the continuance. The Chair disagreed and added public comment is not a debate. She questioned 590 
if the Board was moving forward with a hearing, even though they were advised the application 591 
was going to be continued.  She asked for Staff comment on this issue.  592 
 593 
Councilor Remy felt it wouldn’t be prejudicial to see what the concerns the public has and give 594 
the applicant a month to respond to those concerns. 595 
 596 
Attorney Ice stated the application is in flux amd is constantly changing based on the third-party 597 
reviewers’ comments. She stressed, again, that the applicant is not present, and their engineers 598 
are not present. The public has made their concerns known in the paper and felt the Board should  599 
tune out that noise and have it heard at the proper time.  She felt the applicant has done 600 
everything the City has asked, and it seems extremely punitive for the Board to go against what 601 

15 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 14 of 23 
 

Staff has recommended. She stated elements of this application could change based on the City’s 602 
reviewers who are also not here tonight. 603 
 604 
Attorney Ice continued by stating when the public raise their grievances, there should be 605 
somebody in the room to address those concerns. She stated it seems like the only purpose is 606 
punitive to the applicant and to give a forum for the public to air grievances, which she felt was 607 
not the purpose of a public hearing that has been asked to be continued when all experts can be 608 
present at the next meeting. 609 
 610 
The Chair asked for Staff comments. Ms. Brunner addressed the Board and indicated that Ms. 611 
Fortson was also present and is the Staff person who has been working closely with the 612 
applicant.  613 
Ms. Brunner stated the only update from the last meeting, as the applicant indicated, is that the 614 
City’s third-party reviewer, Fieldstone Land Consultants, an engineering and land surveying 615 
firm, made a recommendation in their review of the application materials. Fieldstone Land 616 
Consultants recommended the City hire an independent third-party hydrogeologist to review a 617 
couple aspects of the application, because they were outside their realm of expertise. Even 618 
though this consultant has expertise with earth excavation projects that they have reviewed for 619 
other applicants, in this instance there were questions around the water table heights, as well as 620 
the potential for acid or acid forming compounds being present in the material to be excavated. 621 
Those are areas that were outside of Fieldstone’s realm of expertise.  622 
 623 
Hence, on the Board’s behalf, as required under the Board’s regulations, the City contracted with 624 
Sanborn and Associates to do the hydrogeologic review. They started their work very quickly, 625 
but they haven't quite been able to review everything. As a result, Staff do recommend that the 626 
Board continue the application to allow time for that review to conclude. In addition, Staff is still 627 
waiting on information related to a revised stormwater management report.   628 
 629 
Ms. Brunner noted each Board member has been provided with a packet that includes all of the 630 
waivers that were requested and the applicant’s rationale for each waiver. There is a request to 631 
withdraw the waiver for the water table height. Staff has asked the hydrogeologist from 632 
Sandborn to review to make sure this is no longer needed. Staff is waiting on that analysis as 633 
well. Ms. Brunner added it sounds likely that this waiver can be withdrawn.  634 
 635 
Mr. Clancy, with respect to regional impact, stated that last month, it was noted that the Town of 636 
Sullivan and Southwest Region Planning Commission were notified and asked if other 637 
communities were also notified. He felt with Roxbury, especially with water and the perennial 638 
streams, might also be included in regional impact and was wondering if they have been 639 
contacted. 640 
 641 
Ms.  Brunner stated the issue with regional impact was raised at the January Board meeting and 642 
at the time, the Board determined that the Town of Sullivan should be given abutter status due to 643 
the fact that it was proposed to be expanded into the Town of Sullivan. Southwest Region 644 
Planning Commission and the Town of Sullivan have been given abutter status. The Town of 645 
Roxbury was not included in that. She stated if the Board was to revise its determination of 646 
regional impact at this point, it would require additional notice. 647 
 648 
The Chair asked if there was some definitive way to determine if Roxbury is impacted. 649 

16 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 15 of 23 
 

Ms. Brunner stated there is some basic guidance in the State Statutes, but it is up to the Board to 650 
decide and noted this question has already been discussed by this Board. Councilor Remy stated 651 
he agrees with Staff regarding that this issue has been discussed quite a few months ago and has 652 
received a lot of public scrutiny; he felt it would be unfair to include Roxbury at this time. Mr. 653 
Clancy stated he agrees, but because this issue has received a lot of public comment, residents in 654 
Roxbury might not have heard about this until recently and feel they could be impacted.  655 
 656 
The Chair asked Ms. Brunner what the impact would be to add Roxbury as an abutter at this 657 
point in the process. Ms. Brunner stated the development of regional impact vote is supposed to 658 
happen before the Board opens the initial public hearing. She stated she wasn’t sure what the 659 
process is for adding a town partway through the process. She stated it might involve sending 660 
notice to that town. 661 
Ms. Brunner continued by stating as to Mr. Clancy's question about what the repercussions 662 
would be, the only body that can decide if this is a development of regional impact and who 663 
should be notified is the Planning Board. The Board has already taken a vote on the issue, even if 664 
another town feels like they should have been notified. There is no process for them to challenge 665 
that, because the Board has already considered the question and voted on it and gone through the 666 
proper procedure. 667 
If the Board were to decide to add another town, Ms. Brunner stated her best guess would be to 668 
pause the process and notify the towns. Ms. Brunner stated she would like to consult with the 669 
City Attorney. Mr. Clancy felt that because Southwest Region Planning Commission was 670 
notified, it could be up to them to notify the appropriate towns. Ms. Fortson stated that 671 
Southwest Region Planning Commission has confirmed they have been working with smaller 672 
towns in the region. 673 
 674 
The Chair asked for public comment next.  675 
 676 
Mr. Jim Manley of 67 Tyler Lane, Sullivan, addressed the Board and stated he shares property 677 
boundaries with G2 Holdings of approximately one mile, which splits directly on to his southern 678 
and eastern borders. Mr. Manley referred to a mural on the north wall of the area, which dates 679 
back to 1775, honoring the men who mustered after the battles of Lexington and Concord. He 680 
referred to the history of Nims Hill and its attraction to this area and did not feel this hill should 681 
be exploited.  682 
 683 
Mr. Manley stated he purchased his property in 2021. Prior to G2’s proposal, he wanted to build 684 
his dream home on this site. This has now been put on hold. He felt 13 years of blasting would 685 
reduce his property value and he is not alone. He stated there are nearly 25 homes within the 686 
2,500-foot radius of this proposal. If the Town of Roxbury is included, that number goes up.  687 
 688 
Mr. Manley noted most of these 25 homes consist of retirees along with several young families 689 
with children. This proposal is a threat to children, pets, wildlife and quiet enjoyment. 690 
He notes it is disconcerting that G2 does not carry liability insurance for potential damages to 691 
foundations and wells from 13 years of blasting, as evidenced by G2 operations in Gilsum. 692 
All the residents in the impact area travel Route 9 daily. The intersection of Sullivan Road and 693 
Route 9 has been identified as a dangerous intersection, and the current improvement is quizzical 694 
at best. He added, in their initial application, G2 reported no increase in traffic to Route 9. 695 
However, at the April 15th public hearing in Sullivan, Cody Gordon stated that there will be 60 696 
to 75 truckloads per day. 697 

17 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 16 of 23 
 

 698 
Ms. Elizabeth Newcomb of 501 South Road, Sullivan, stated she is also a resident of Keene. 699 
She stated she purchased land in Sullivan to build her dream home for her family, but her plans 700 
are on hold due to this proposed expansion, which will negatively impact her land 701 
value. She expressed her concern that the current project has many violations that were only 702 
discovered upon review of the proposed expansion.  She asked if the City was not monitoring 703 
violations and getting them remedied, what will happen if there continues to be violations and 704 
the project proceeds not in accordance with the proposed plan. This is what happened 705 
originally—the project was not constructed in accordance with many elements of the approved 706 
plan. 707 
 708 
Ms. Newcomb stated she is also concerned about noise, the impact from blasting, potential 709 
hazards to her children with the multiple 50-foot cliffs in her backyard, as well as the visual 710 
impact along the road. She stated she understands violations are not being discussed tonight, but 711 
felt it was germane to the decision that the current site is in noncompliance of multiple 712 
regulations. 713 
 714 
The Chairman next asked for comments from residents of Keene.  715 
 716 
Mr. Mike Perez of 419 South Road, Keene, stated he is within approximately 4,000 feet of the 717 
proposed area. He asked that the Planning Board to keep in mind language in the land 718 
development code that exists to protect homeowners like himself from hazards, nuisance and 719 
detriment to property values. Mr. Perez stated, even though he is not a direct abutter, it is clear he 720 
will still be negatively affected by G2’s proposal for expansion. 721 
 722 
Mr. Davis Jacoway of 416 South Road, Keene, addressed the Board next and stated he is 723 
concerned about his well. He lives 1/8th of a mile from this site and is concerned about the 724 
disturbance of bedrock and how that would contaminate his well. He also expressed concern 725 
about the increase of dust that would enter his home. He questioned if blasting was permitted on 726 
Saturdays, which happened two months ago.  727 
 728 
Ms. Jan Albano, Selectwoman for the Town of Roxbury, addressed the Board and stated they are 729 
aware that Roxbury does not have abutter status. She read the following statement on behalf of 730 
the Roxbury Select Board: 731 
In 2022, G2 began operations at the gravel pit in Keene. They now propose to expand the gravel 732 
pit in Keene and Sullivan, although they will not be excavating on land in Roxbury. The site 733 
includes property in Roxbury and impacts not just the adjacent properties, but any property 734 
within hearing distance. G2 asked to expand because they realize they can’t extract as much 735 
gravel from their existing site as previously thought; we now realize a few things too. 736 
We reference the Fieldstone report that cites several instances of G2 failing to fulfill the 737 
requirements of their existing permit. Some of these have now been addressed or are being 738 
tended to, but would that be the case if they were not now seeking approval for their expansion? 739 
We also call your attention to G2’s narrative “detailing how each development standard has 740 
been addressed. In particular, Item 11 is the means to avoid and/or mitigate adverse impacts 741 
caused by dust, noise and traffic.” Their response addresses dust and traffic. There is no mention 742 
of noise. Yet, noise is of a significant concern of Roxbury residents living within earshot of the 743 
existing pit. Those people are currently subjected to constant noise that disrupts the quiet and 744 
solitude that they used to enjoy, and if the exemption is approved, they can expect more of that 745 

18 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 17 of 23 
 

six days a week for the next 13 years. Other concerns that other people have talked about today 746 
include the potential for damage to foundations, contamination of wells and the failure of 747 
retention ponds. 748 
 749 
We ask that you carefully weigh the impact of this proposed expansion on the residents of Keene, 750 
Sullivan, and Roxbury. There are multiple reasons to deny this request. What compelling reason 751 
is there to grant it? 752 
 753 
Ms. Yulia Sokol of Sullivan addressed the Board next. Ms. Sokol stated she has lived in Sullivan 754 
for the last three years. Ms. Sokol referred to an article the City of Keene had sent out asking 755 
what the City should look like in 2040. She noted the article mentions six key pillars that reflect 756 
what matters most to Keene and Sullivan residents and residents of Monadnock region.  757 
Ms. Sokol pointed out that Route 9 and 10 are the gateways to New Hampshire. Everybody who 758 
comes to visit our beautiful region and the state comes through Keene. Route 9 and 10 bring us 759 
people from Massachusetts, Vermont, New York, Connecticut and other states. 760 
Local small-town population is declining, as per the last census. The goal of Sullivan and Keene 761 
residents and the small business community is to save our small towns from deteriorating effects 762 
of industrial scale mining and gravel operations on Route 9 and Route 10, which is ongoing by 763 
G2 Holdings and Gordon Services. The goal of Sullivan and Keene residents is, first, to make 764 
our towns a vibrant place to live healthier lives and thrive as a local community. Second, is to 765 
attract more residents, especially young families, to make Sullivan and Keene their forever 766 
home. 767 
 768 
She noted the applicant’s proposal affects nearly 31,329 residents from towns of Keene, Sullivan 769 
Gilsum, Surry, Nelson, Munsonville, Marlow, Stoddard, Harrisville, Roxbury and Marlborough. 770 
She indicated that quality of life, health implications, property values, property tax implications 771 
and school children attendance at local schools are a concern. 772 
 773 
Jennifer Schmidt of 39 Old County Road, Gilsum, was the next speaker.  Ms. Schmidt stated her 774 
property is directly across the valley from the current excavation site in Gilsum on Route 10. She 775 
stated she wakes up to the sound of hammering, blasting, beeping of trucks that goes on all day. 776 
She stated this goes on Monday through Saturday starting at 7:00 AM. 777 
 778 
Ms. Schmidt stated she moved to this area three years ago, partly because of the quiet and the 779 
beauty of this area. She stated it is unlikely that they will be able to sell their property at this time 780 
with all the noise that they have to endure.  She noted the blasting activity last week caused her 781 
well to spew black water. She complained to the select board and Cody Gordon sent people over. 782 
It was discovered she had bedrock in her well water and was told it was probably from a 783 
thunderstorm. Ms. Schmidt indicated again, this was the day after the blast. 784 
In addition, she stated her pressurization tank no longer works. It worked the day before the blast 785 
but no longer worked after the blast. She cautioned allowing the expansion to move forward 786 
because of what the residents currently have to live through. 787 
 788 
Ms. Keegan Brasso from Sullivan, NH stated the five-acre rule is what the applicant is 789 
requesting a waiver from. He noted preventing the expansion would protect nature, wildlife, 790 
people’s ability to access and enjoy nature. G2 Holdings is requesting waivers to all these 791 
regulations. He stated he cares about noise and dust but specifically, the five-acre rule seems to 792 
prohibit expansion and asked that this rule stand. 793 

19 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 18 of 23 
 

 794 
Mr. Peter Vogel of Sullivan addressed the Board. He stated what concerns him is 13 years of 795 
blasting, which means 13 years of dust and disruption to wildlife, 13 years of disruption of 796 
quality of life for the residents—not just abutting properties, but in the entire area. He indicated 797 
these things are not in question. 798 
He felt this project would leave a scar in this area and sees many problems with this project, with 799 
no benefit to the community but would greatly benefit the applicant.  800 
 801 
Ms. Amelia Perrin of 98 Apple Hill Roard, Sullivan, addressed the Board next. Ms. Perrin stated 802 
she has lived in her property for nearly 12 years and also works for the Apple Hill Center for 803 
Chamber Music where she runs a summer music camp. She noted this project will profit G2 804 
Holdings and Granite Engineering, whereas the adverse effects of this project will be borne by 805 
the local community. As such, felt there should be the highest possible standard set to mitigate 806 
these adverse impacts. 807 
 808 
Ms. Perrin stated she is concerned about 13 years of sound and pollution for the music camp, as 809 
well as the community and neighbors. She stated she is also concerned about the air and water 810 
pollution this project will cause. Allowing this project to move forward with these waivers would 811 
be a failure to adequately protect the water and health of the local community.  812 
 813 
Mr. Dwayne Edelton of 33 Lowell Drive, Gilsum, stated he is an abutter to this project. He stated 814 
this project has caused 64 cliffs around his property and a building that has been split in half, 815 
which the applicant won’t take responsibility for. He indicated the applicant installed a blasting 816 
sensor on his property last week, which he indicated needs to be set on solid surface. Mr. Edelton 817 
stated the sensor was installed instead on his leach field, which he had requested that the 818 
applicant does not do. He showed the public present a rendering from Route 10 as to what his 819 
backyard looks like and indicated his property is severely damaged because of this work.  820 
He noted G2 Holdings owns the land, but the blasting company has destroyed his barn and his 821 
house. They refused to admit to it and are requesting Mr. Edleton use his homeowners’ insurance 822 
to cover the repairs to his property. He indicated that G2 Holding is not bonded or insured.  823 
 824 
Mr. Edelton stated his neighbors have sinkholes on their property, damage to foundations and the 825 
noise and stress of blasting caused his neighbors to lose their exotic birds. 826 
 827 
Attorney Friedrich Mukhal from Concord NH, representing Mr. Manley, addressed the Board 828 
next.  829 
Attorney Mukhal stated he agrees with everything that has been stated today by the other 830 
speakers. He noted excavation pits are governed by a statute, RSA 155-E, but there are City 831 
regulations that are more stringent and referred to a couple of those requirements that exist in this 832 
City: 833 
When an issue would present a potential hazard to human health, safety and welfare, or to the 834 
environment caused by adverse impacts associated with an excavation project. 835 
Examples of such hazards include adverse visual impacts. The attorney handed Staff copies of 836 
meeting minutes from August 2022 when the Board first approved G2 Holdings application as 837 
well as the meeting minutes from the Sullivan Zoning Board of Adjustment from April 2025.  838 
 839 
He called the Board’s attention to page 15, which refers to what the applicant is indicating to 840 
Sullivan that they are going to do as part of the present application. They are going to blast this 841 

20 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 19 of 23 
 

mountain down, which will result in three steps of 50-foot ledges. He noted this is what the 842 
applicant would like the Board to approve. He added what G2 does not have to do is to reclaim 843 
ledges and 50-foot slopes. 844 
 845 
Attorney Mukhal also referred to the City’s Land Development Code Sections 25.2 C and E: 846 
Health, Safety, Welfare, Visual Impacts. The same would be true regarding the Land 847 
Development Code Sections 25.2-D: Noise. All abutters are complaining about noise, which is a 848 
big issue.  849 
 850 
Mr. Andrew Newcomb of 64 Center Street, Sullivan, stated he has lived in Sullivan with his 851 
family since 2023. He stated they own a 209-year-old home on fieldstone foundation, fed by well 852 
water. He stated G2 has been expanding into the town and wants to continue to do so. Mr. 853 
Newcombe pointed out that they are now requesting waivers and exceptions so that they can 854 
essentially bypass the code that this town has when they have demonstrated in the past that they 855 
don't really care about those codes to begin with. He noted G2 has violated their plans, they have 856 
violated state law, town ordinances both in Keene and in Sullivan, and are now requesting 857 
waivers are asking that they will abide by those waivers. Mr. Newcombe indicated they have not 858 
given the city reason to trust them in the past and there is no reason to trust them in the future.  859 
 860 
Mr. Joseph Anzo on 501 South Road, Keene, was the next speaker.  Mr. Anzo stated, as Mr. 861 
Newcombe just indicated, G2 makes a lot of promises; however, G2 had repeated violations of 862 
municipal, state and federal regulations, many of which have not yet been remediated and may 863 
never be remediated. He noted they have advanced into Sullivan without seeking any approval at 864 
all. G2 is also in arrears on a number of tax obligations and, as others have noted, it is not 865 
actually possible to return the land to a pre-impact state in many cases, especially in the case of 866 
these 350-foot cliffs, millions of tons of bedrock are being removed from the site. Mr. Anzo 867 
noted what G2 is suggesting is that they replace at least a certain portion of this bedrock with 868 
loam on the side of an extremely steep hill that descends into a ravine with a pretty significant 869 
river at the bottom of it and into the Otter Brook watershed. The project has the potential to 870 
cause ferric oxide runoff into local and Keene waterways, especially with flooding becoming an 871 
issue nationwide. 872 
 873 
He went on to say the gravel pit would cause dust trucks, mud, noise and traffic and will be the 874 
defining feature of Keene for all visitors for decades to come. He felt what is visible now is 875 
nothing compared to what’s to come. Mr. Anzo stated we can already see the scar beginning to 876 
appear on the hillside as you come into Keene. There is going to be blasting for 13 years and 877 
taking down that hillside for 13 years. He questioned whether the City can trust G2 Holdings or 878 
will this become a constant problem for the City as it is already proven to be. 879 
  880 
Mr. Manley addressed the Board again and reminded the Board that they could deny this 881 
application and technical data is not needed as the Board can see what is already happening. He 882 
referred to a rendering of what can be seen from Route 9, which he indicated was a direct 883 
violation of RSA 155 E and Keene’s Ordinances. 884 
 885 
He referred to the applicant’s initial application where G2 reported no increase in Route 9 traffic. 886 
However, at the April 15th public hearing in Sullivan, Cody stated that there will be 60 to 75 887 
truckloads per day. Mr. Manley noted what Cody Gordon failed to say is that truckload consists 888 
of two trips, inbound and outbound, resulting in 120 to 150 trips each day. He noted the 889 

21 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 20 of 23 
 

intersection of Sullivan Road and Route 9 was deemed hazardous. What the State implemented 890 
is not acceptable and questioned what impact this increase to traffic is going to have on this 891 
intersection.  892 
 893 
Mr. Manley noted it is a documented fact that G2 Holdings conducted forestry and excavation 894 
operations in Keene and Sullivan without permits, as well as forestry operations in Brattleboro. 895 
State and Keene regulations state clearly that a gravel pit should not be visible except for the 896 
entrance to the operation. He noted this is clearly not the case. 897 
 898 
Mr. Manley asked the Board how approval of this proposal is going to enhance property values 899 
of property owners in the region. He also questioned why Granite Engineering drew a one-mile 900 
perimeter when the City’s regulations indicate it should be 2,500 feet, and this will impact nearly 901 
25 homes. 902 
 903 
Ms. Yulia Sokol of 40 Mine Road, Sullivan, addressed the Board again and stated her house 904 
shakes every time there is a blast, and she is not a direct abutter. She indicated she heard a recent 905 
study that indicated the only county that gained population in New Hampshire was Carroll 906 
County, and the reason for this is natural beauty, peace and a healthy environment that people are 907 
drawn to. 908 
She stated she does not want to see people driving through Keene to get to better places and that 909 
is what this application would contribute to.  910 
 911 
Mr. Edelton addressed the Board again and stated, with reference to blasting, blasts were felt for 912 
more than a mile and a half away and stated he has documentation indicating this. Mr. Edelton 913 
stressed that the applicant refuses to follow regulations. He talked about the lack of road 914 
maintenance from the applicant, which he has had to address with the town.  915 
 916 
Ms. Liz referred to a few final thoughts. The original plans showed many instances of inaccuracy 917 
and misrepresentation, as highlighted in the Fieldstone report. At the meeting in Sullivan, the 918 
representatives from G2 consistently downplayed the negative impacts that residents would face 919 
from the operation and continue to need many waivers to regulations, which exist for a reason, 920 
just to be able to proceed with the operation. 921 
 922 
She encouraged the Board to remember that these regulations are here for a reason: to protect the 923 
residents, community and wildlife. If G2 needs so many exceptions to the rules just to be able to 924 
operate, perhaps this isn't the correct location for this sort of operation, and certainly not the 925 
expansion. 926 
 927 
Attorney Ice addressed the Board next and stated this is the most egregious example of lack of 928 
due process she has seen. She stated that they reject 99% of the complaints that have been made, 929 
as the public is raising items that have not been found to be violations. She raised her concern 930 
that the applicant was not able to make it to the meeting. She noted the process should have been 931 
the applicant’s presentation, then Staff comments and opening the hearing up to the public for 932 
their comments.  She indicated she spoke just to the continuance and then the public was given 933 
the opportunity to air their grievances. She felt this entire night should be stricken from the 934 
record. 935 
 936 

22 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 21 of 23 
 

She stated they will present their case in August and address the legitimate concerns the Staff 937 
and their engineers have raised and asked that the Board give this applicant the same due process 938 
afforded to other applicants.  939 
 940 
Attorney Mukhal addressed the Board again and stated the applicant filed, at the 11th hour, a 941 
request for a continuance and then the applicant made the choice not to attend the meeting 942 
tonight. He noted the applicant’s attorney is present, but perhaps the Engineers should have been 943 
here to answer questions, maybe not on the hydrology portion, but at least the portions that are 944 
before the board tonight. He added it is the applicant’s burden to be ready to go and felt it was 945 
dangerous to make these arguments that it is prejudicial to the applicant for this Board to proceed 946 
when there was no decision on that motion to continue. He did not feel there was any procedural 947 
irregularity, except maybe for the hydrology component. He did not feel the testimony made 948 
today needs to be stricken and if this hearing is continued to August, the Board can hear about 949 
hydrology. 950 
 951 
With that the Chair closed the public hearing. 952 
 953 
A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board continue PB-2024-20 to the 954 
Planning Board meeting scheduled for August 25th, 2025 at 6:30 PM in the City Hall, 2nd Floor 955 
Council Chambers. The motion was seconded by Sarah Vezzani. 956 
 957 
The Mayor noted, as Staff had stated, there is information yet to be brought to the Board and 958 
information will be received next month, and felt the continuation was an appropriate action. 959 
 960 
The Chair stated public input was important to the Board but not necessarily to have the same 961 
weight as professional engineers and analysis from licensed professionals in this field of 962 
hydrogeology. He stated he appreciates everyone’s patience and civility throughout this process.  963 
 964 
The motion carried on a unanimous vote. 965 
 966 

VII) Master Plan Update (KeeneMasterPlan.com) 967 
 968 

Ms. Brunner stated the July meeting was rescheduled for August 12. She indicated the 969 
consultants are working on a revised draft of the master plan, which will be sent out to Steering 970 
Committee members. She stated most of the edits at this point are not significant changes. It is 971 
more about reorganization, formatting items and a few “tweaks.” She noted the biggest change 972 
Staff requested, with respect to the implementation section, is to make it more user friendly. She 973 
stated the draft should be ready for the next Master Plan Steering Committee meeting to get the 974 
adoption process started. She added the Board can expect, if the Master Plan Steering Committee 975 
is ready, they would send it back to the Board. At that point, the Board would refer it to Council 976 
for Council to endorse and then a public hearing will be scheduled.  977 
 978 
Ms. Brunner called the Board’s attention to a display on the second floor of different 979 
departments going back 100 years of community planning.  980 
 981 
The Mayor stated he would not be present at the August 12th Steering Committee as this meeting 982 
falls during council break and expressed his disappointment.  983 
 984 

23 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 22 of 23 
 

The Chair asked whether the draft would be red-lined. Ms. Brunner stated it wont be red-lined 985 
but staff could submit to the Board a summary of the changes that have been made. With respect 986 
to the Mayor’s comments, she apologized the way the timeline worked out and thanked the 987 
Mayor and the Chair for all their in-depth comments during the master plan process. She added 988 
when the draft is sent to the Board, the Mayor would have the opportunity to add comments that 989 
will be forwarded to the committee. 990 
 991 
 992 

VIII) Staff Updates  993 
a) Overview of Administrative and Minor Project approvals issued from January 1, 994 

2025- June 30, 2025. 995 
 996 
Ms. Brunner stated, with respect to an overview of administrative and minor project approvals, 997 
Staff have previously provided annual updates. After a previous conversation with this Board, 998 
Staff are now doing bi-annual updates of approvals that are being issued. She noted what is 999 
before the Board tonight  1000 
are more administrative approvals. There are no minor project reviews for the first six months 1001 
(January – June). She stated the Minor Project Review Committee sees very few items, as most 1002 
projects don't qualify for minor project review. Most applications might have a waiver request, 1003 
the City might be a direct abutter, the City might hold an easement, etc. and hence are getting 1004 
forwarded to the Planning Board for review.  1005 
 1006 
She went on to say there have been a number of comments from Board members regarding the 1007 
site plan review process and an item will be brought before the Board in the next couple of 1008 
months. 1009 
 1010 

b) b) Correspondence received from NH Dept. of Environmental Services regarding a 1011 
Waiver Request for the Transportation Heritage Trail (informational). 1012 

 1013 
Ms. Brunner stated if the Board had any questions regarding this correspondence the Board 1014 
received, they should reach out to the City Engineer, Bryan Ruoff. The letter is on page 83 of the 1015 
Board packet. 1016 
 1017 
     IX. New Business 1018 
 1019 
None 1020 
 1021 
     X. Upcoming Dates of Interest  1022 
• Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – September 8th, 6:30 PM  1023 
• Planning Board Steering Committee – August 12th, 12:00 PM  1024 
• Planning Board Site Visit – August 20th, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed  1025 
• Planning Board Meeting – August 25th , 6:30 PM 1026 
 1027 
B. MORE TIME ITEMS  1028 
1. Potential Modifications to the Site Plan Review Thresholds  1029 
2. Training on Site Development Standards – Screening & Lighting C. 1030 
 1031 
There being no further business, Chair Farrington adjourned the meeting at 9:17 PM. 1032 

24 of 77



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 28, 2025 

Page 23 of 23 
 

 1033 
Respectfully submitted by, 1034 
Krishni Pahl, Minute Taker 1035 

 1036 

Reviewed and edited by, 1037 

Emily Duseau, Planning Technician 1038 

 1039 

25 of 77



26 of 77



 

 

3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 

 

(603) 352-5440 
KeeneNH.gov  

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   Planning Board    
 
FROM:   Community Development Staff 
 
DATE:   August 22, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Agenda Item A.4 - Final Vote on Conditional Approvals  

 

Recommendation:  

To grant final approval for any projects that have met all their “conditions precedent to final 
approval.” 

Background: 

This is a standing agenda item in response to the “George Stergiou v. City of Dover” opinion issued 
by the NH Supreme Court on July 21, 2022. As a matter of practice, the Planning Board issues a 
final vote on all conditionally approved projects after the “conditions precedent to final approval” 
have been met. This final vote will be the final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock. 

As of the date of this packet, the following application is ready for final approval: 

1. PB-2025-01 – 2-lot Subdivision – Keene State College, 238-260 Main St  

If any projects meet their conditions precedent between date of this packet and the meeting, they 
will be identified and discussed during this agenda item.   

All Planning Board actions, including final approvals, are posted on the City of Keene website the 
day after the meeting at KeeneNH.gov/planning-board.  

 

  

27 of 77

https://keenenh.gov/planning-board


 

 

MEMORANDUM - AMENDED 
 

TO:   Planning Board   
 

FROM:   Megan Fortson, Planner 
 

DATE:   August 22, 2025 
 

SUBJECT: PB-2024-20 – Earth Excavation Permit Major Amendment & Hillside 
Protection Conditional Use Permit – 21 & 57 Route 9  

 

Recommendation: 

Planning Staff will provide a recommended motion on the Earth Excavation Permit Major 
Amendment & Hillside Protection Conditional Use Permit, PB-2024-20, at the Planning Board 
meeting on August 25, 2025. 

Background: 

Following the distribution of the previous agenda packet and memo for the August 25th Planning 
Board meeting, City Staff met with the applicant’s team and the Board’s third-party consultants 
to discuss the revised materials that had been submitted along with the review letters drafted by 
the consultants. During this meeting, all parties came to the consensus that with a few revisions 
to existing materials and the submittal of additional information, this application would likely be 
ready for deliberation at the August Planning Board meeting. 
 
On August 21st, the applicant submitted a revised stormwater management report, plan set,  a 
response letter to Fieldstone Land Consultants, and an amended acid mine drainage monitoring 
plan. Additionally, the results of a “slug test” performed by Front Geoservices on one of the 
existing bedrock monitoring wells was also submitted. These updated materials were forwarded 
to the Planning Board’s third-party engineering consultant, Fieldstone Land Consultants, as well 
as their third-party hydrogeology consultant, Sanborn, Head & Associates for review on the same 
day. 
 
Following their review of the updated materials, Sanborn Head submitted the attached memo 
dated August 22nd stating that the updated materials adequately addressed their comments 
related to excavation below the water table, acid mine drainage, and stormwater infiltration. 
Included in the memo were two recommended conditions of approval related to measuring 
seasonal high water levels in one of the bedrock monitoring wells and installing an additional 
well in Permit Period 1. Fieldstone agreed with the feedback provided by Sanborn Head and 
communicated to staff via email that their comments had also been sufficiently addressed.  
 
Included as attachments are the review letter from Sanborn Head as well as the updated 
materials submitted by the applicant. Links to the applicable Planning Board agenda packets 
and meeting minutes are included below. Additional information is available on the Planning 
Board webpage at https://keenenh.gov/planning-board/.  
 

28 of 77

https://keenenh.gov/planning-board/


 

 

Planning Board Agenda Packets:  
• February 24, 2025 
• March 24, 2025 
• May 27, 2025 
• July 28, 2025 

 
Planning Board Meeting Minutes: 

• February 24, 2025 
• March 24, 2025 
• May 27, 2025 

29 of 77

https://keenenh.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025/03/2025_02_24_PB_Agenda_Packet_reduced-file-size.pdf
https://keenenh.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025/03/2025_03_24_PB_Agenda_Packet.pdf
https://keenenh.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025/05/2025_05_27_PB_Agenda_Packet_AMENDED_REDUCED.pdf
https://keenenh.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025/07/2025_07_28_Agenda-Packet_AMENDED_07-24-25_optimized.pdf
https://keenenh.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025/04/2025_02_24_PB_Minutes_Adopted.pdf
https://keenenh.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025/05/2025_03_24_PB_Minutes_Adopted.pdf
https://keenenh.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025/07/2025_05_27_PB_Minutes_Adopted.pdf


 
 

 

MEMORANDUM 
To: Megan Fortson, Planner, City of Keene, NH 
From: Russell Abell, PG 
File: 6741.00 
Date: August 22, 2025 
Re: Summary of Hydrogeologic Review of G2 Holdings Keene Quarry Expansion  
 Application – Second Addendum Materials/Updates 
cc: Mari Brunner, Evan Clements, Emily Duseau 
 

 
Sanborn Head and Associates, Inc. (Sanborn Head) reviewed revised and additional information 
provided by G2 Holdings (Applicant) in response to our August 15, 2025 Summary of 
Hydrogeologic Review of G2 Holdings Keene Quarry Expansion Application Summary 
Memorandum (August 2025 Memo). As requested, this review of revised/additional 
information focused on reviewing the following: 
 

1) Frontier Geoservices, GORDON SERVICES – KEENE PIT BRW-12 SLUG TEST DATA & 
RESULTS, 57 Route 9, Keene, New Hampshire, August 21, 2025. 

2) Frontier Geoservices, GORDON SERVICES – KEENE PIT ACID MINE DRAINAGE 
MONITORING PROGRAM, 57 Route 9, Keene, New Hampshire, August 21, 2025. 

3) Granite Engineering, LLC, 2025, Gravel And Earth Removal Plan G2 Holdings LLC, Keene 
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8, Sullivan Tax Map 5 Lots 46 & 46-1, 57 Route 9, Keene New 
Hampshire, Cheshire County, Revised August 21. 

 
The following provides the concerns summarized in our August 2025 Memo and Sanborn 
Head’s responses based on review of the information reviewed in items 1-3 above and 
information stated during an August 18, 2025 meeting (August 2025 Meeting) with the 
Applicant and their technical/legal team. Each concern from the August 2025 Memo is provided 
below in italicized text followed by Sanborn Head’s response in plain text font. 
 

1. Excavation Below the Water Table: The observed water table in newly installed 
monitoring wells located in proposed excavation area Period 8 represents water table 
conditions that can be characterized as seasonal low water table conditions.  Therefore, 
the revised Period 8 “Pit Floor” proposed elevation of 860 feet above mean sea level 
(AMSL) has the potential to be below the water table and/or lower than six feet above 
the water table during seasonal high water table conditions. This is especially of concern 
in the northwest portion of the proposed excavation area.  In fact, as shown on Figure 2, 
under current seasonal low water table conditions, the northwest portion of the Period 8 
excavation is projected to be below the water table.  Seasonal high water conditions 
may also be a concern for Period 1 as well, especially in the southeastern portion of the 

30 of 77



August 2025 
Keene Pit Review Summary Memo 

6741.00 
Page 2 

excavation area. Additional data collection from Period 1 would be needed to determine 
the water table conditions there. 

 
As requested and agreed upon during the August 2025 Meeting, the Applicant has 
provided a response to the above concern.  The applicant stated with respect to Period 
8 that they had revised the final proposed grade elevations for the bottom of the 
excavation in the northern portion of Period 8 to account for water level elevations in 
that area and the provided site plans appear to confirm these changes.  Discussion 
during the August 2025 meeting and the revised grade elevations in Period 8 satisfy the 
above concern as long as a condition of the permit requires seasonal high (e.g., spring 
conditions) water level monitoring in BRW-09 to confirm the revised grades will be in 
compliance with the 6 feet above the water table requirement in City of Keene Land 
Development Code (LDC) Article 25.3.3. 
 
For Period 1, as discussed and agreed upon during the August 2025 meeting, a condition 
of the permit is recommended to install a monitoring well within Period 1 to confirm the 
seasonal high water table elevation conditions (e.g., spring conditions) in this area as 
current data are not sufficient.  This is needed to confirm that proposed grade 
elevations of the base of the Period 1 excavation are in compliance with LDC Article 
25.3.3. Addition of this condition will satisfy the above concern with respect to the 
water table elevation in Period 1. 
 

2. AMD Potential: The Application supporting documentation has presented a concern for 
[acid mine drainage] AMD potential as a result of excavation of bedrock in each of the 
proposed Periods.  The recently observed presence of the mineral pyrite (an iron sulfide 
mineral with chemical formula FeS2) in drill cuttings generated during the installation of 
monitoring wells in Period 8 further supports this concern.  Although the available 
information does not allow for a more thorough assessment of AMD development 
potential, several existing lines of evidence also point to it being a concern.  While the 
Application has provided a monitoring program, best management practice of lining 
surface water detention and retention ponds with limestone aggregate, and excavation 
will be terminated if necessary, additional monitoring should be considered and appears 
warranted. 

 
As requested and agreed upon during the August 2025 Meeting, the Applicant has 
provided a revised Acid Mine Drainage Monitoring Plan that includes the additional 
requested items.  These items include: 
 

• installation and monitoring of an additional bedrock monitoring well 
downgradient (north) of Period 8;  

• quarterly monitoring for a year for each monitoring location with a change to 
semi-annual if results do not indicate a concern for AMD for each excavation 
area (Period); 

• clarification that stormwater basins will be part of the monitoring program as 
they are constructed; and 

31 of 77



August 2025 
Keene Pit Review Summary Memo 

6741.00 
Page 3 

• field screening of pH will occur monthly in the active stormwater basins (at the 
time) and “BRW” series monitoring wells that are identified as part of the 
program. 

 
The modified monitoring plan satisfies this concern. 

 
3. Period 8 Stormwater Infiltration: Although not a focus of this review, another concern 

identified relates to the stormwater management plan for the proposed project.  Based 
on our preliminary review and understanding, an existing infiltration basin (retention 
basin) and a newly constructed basin in Period 8 will serve to infiltrate all stormwater 
that emanates at the Site during the implementation of the project.  The documentation 
appears to show the newly constructed Period 8 retention basin will be constructed on 
the bedrock pit “floor” (or will be excavated into bedrock), and will exist as the only 
infiltration basin during the late stages of the project (excavation of Period 8), if it is not 
also active earlier in the project.  With the base located on bedrock, even if saprolite or 
highly weathered (typically clay-rich) materials are present, it seems unlikely that an 
infiltration rate of 0.3 inches per hour will be achieved as the Application used to 
determine stormwater management. It is possible that the actual infiltration rate could 
be close to zero (if competent, unfractured bedrock), or as much as an order of 
magnitude lower (if weathered bedrock or saprolite). Therefore, it appears unlikely that 
stormwater will infiltrate in this Period 8 basin, especially at the rate used to model 
stormwater management. 

 
As discussed and requested during the August 2025 Meeting, the Applicant has also 
responded to this concern with information stated in the meeting and an additional field 
test completed at the site.  The Applicant provided the results of an in-situ hydraulic 
conductivity test, which measures the capacity of the subsurface materials to transmit 
water.  Sanborn Head has reviewed this information and analysis, which indicates that 
the underlying material at the approximate elevation of the planned Period 8 
stormwater infiltration basin has a similar hydraulic conductivity to a silty sand.  The 
estimated infiltration rate used in the Applicant’s stormwater modeling is for a similar 
material and estimated at 0.3 inches per hour.  Based on the following, this concern is 
satisfied by the additional information provided: 
 

• The hydraulic conductivity testing results in BRW-12 indicates a conductivity 
similar to a silty sand material, which is similar to the estimated infiltration rate 
of the material used in the stormwater model; 

• The Applicant’s technical team stated that during the drilling of monitoring wells 
in Period 8  competent bedrock was not observed; 

• The Applicant’s technical team stated that monitoring wells in Period 8 
recharged quickly after removal of groundwater for sampling (purging) and well 
development, which is consistent with the conductivity testing results above; 
and 

• The Applicant’s technical team stated that the current infiltration basin located 
in Period 8 is in the same material (albeit at a higher elevation), and they have 

32 of 77



August 2025 
Keene Pit Review Summary Memo 

6741.00 
Page 4 

observed infiltration occurring quickly after significant rain events (e.g., the basin 
mostly drained within 24 hours after filling during a rain event.) 

 
Based on the above, this concern is satisfied. 

 
At this time, as long as the two recommended conditions are included in the permit, Sanborn 
Head does not have additional concerns with the proposed excavation permit plans with 
respect to the two areas we were retained to review: LDC Article 25.3.3.B and LDC Article 
25.3.6 waivers.  Also, concerns expressed previously regarding the infiltration basin in Period 8 
have been satisfied and Sanborn Head does not have further concerns for this item. 
 
We trust this information meets your needs at this time. Please contact me should you have 
questions regarding this information. We appreciate the opportunity to support the Town’s 
review of the Application. 
 
RHA/SRN: rha 

33 of 77



 

 

 

 

 

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 

(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

 

GRANITE ENGINEERING, LLC 
civil engineering ● land planning ● municipal services 

August 21, 2025 
 
City of Keene 
Community Development Department – Planning and Zoning 
3 Washington Street 
Keene, New Hampshire 03431 
 
RE: G2 Holdings, LLC  
 Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 
 21 & 57 Route 9, Keene, NH  
 GE Project No. 2302011 
 
Dear Ms. Fortson, 
 
We are in receipt of a consultant review report, recieved August 14, 2025, relative to the 
review of the Earth Excavation Permit application, PB-2024-20, for the G2 Holdings, LLC 
project located at 21 & 57 Route 9. In addition to responses to your comments, please find 
the following material in support of the referenced project: 
 

• Three (3) Copies of the revised plans (22” x 34”) 
• Three (3) Copies of the Stormwater Management Report 
• Digital submission of the updated materials 

 
In response to the comments made by Fieldstone Land Consultants, PLLC, we offer the 
following explanations and/or responses: 
 
Section 25 Earth Excavation Permit: 
 

 
4. Section 25.3.3:  The third-party hydrogeologist (Sanborn Head) observed the borings 

and monitoring wells and has represented that there are potential conflicts with the 
groundwater and/or separation to groundwater in Period 1 and Period 8.  This should 
be reviewed and the design and stormwater management report revised as 
necessary. 

 
The grading for periods 1 and 8 have been adjusted to maintain a minimum of 6’ 
above water table elevations observed. Per the 8/20/2025 meeting, a condition 
to the permit will require a monitoring well to be installed within period 1 during 
spring. If the water table is observed within 6’ of the proposed grading, the 
grading will be slightly raised to maintain the required 6’ separation. 

 
 

34 of 77

http://www.graniteeng.com/


Page 2 of 3 
 

 

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 

(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

 

The stormwater report states that the design is relying on test pits performed by 
TFMoran but those test pits do not reach depths to verify soil materials and adequate 
separation to seasonal high-water table.  The Subsurface Data table on the 
monitoring plan shows that Test Pit 1 and 2 go to depths of 867.0 and 863 respectfully 
and the infiltration basin in this area has a bottom elevation of 842.0. 
 
The stormwater report narrative has been revised to reference the newly drilled 
well bedrock wells, including BRW-12, which observed water at elevation 
830.92. The colored drainage plans have also been revised to show the revised 
pit grading for periods 1 and 8. 

 
SLR-10 which is outside of the infiltration area shows water observed at 841.1 (884-
42.9) which would not provide adequate separation to the bottom of the infiltration 
basin at 842.0.  The ground elevation per the topography depicted on the monitoring 
plan shows SLR-10 at elevation 890+/- not 884 per the table.  If the elevation in the 
plan view is correct this would raise the observed groundwater level to 847.1+/-.  
BRW-12 which is inside the infiltration basin is not detailed on the monitoring plan but 
it is my understanding readings from BRW-12 may support. ground water elevations 
at approximately 830.9 during low flow conditions but the materials are not 
conducive to infiltration since bedrock was encountered.  The table on the monitoring 
plan should be updated to depict all observations on-site and the data should be 
verified to ensure that all elevations are represented correctly. 
 
SLR 10 was an existing well that was installed during the previous project 
designed and permitted by another firm. It no longer exists on site due to 
excavation activities in that area. All references to SLR wells done under the 
previous project have been removed from the planset, as they are no longer 
present on site. BRW 12 was shown on the monitoring plan sheet 17 of 23 in lieu 
of SLR 10.  This well was dug to replace SLR 10.   
 
As discussed in the 8/20/25 meeting, a hydraulic conductivity slug test was 
performed at BRW 12 and the data support the infiltration used in the stormwater 
design.  The conversation revolved around the presence of ledge near the 
infiltration pond which was explained by our team to not be the case.  It was 
agreed that this material was not typical ledge and the infiltration test provided 
that.   
 

6. Section 25.3.4.A.2:  The water table drops 22+/- feet between SLR10 and SLR11 and 
it is a relatively short distance between these two locations.  We would recommend 
an additional test site between the two locations to ensure adequate separation to 
seasonal high water.  This stormwater management area is critical to the design and 
operation of this site.  This additional testing could be done between phases as a 
condition of approval should the Board feel comfortable with this recommendation.   

35 of 77

http://www.graniteeng.com/


Page 3 of 3 
 

 

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 

(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

 

 
BRW-12 has been installed between former SLR10 and SLR11 and within the floor 
of the infiltration pond. The water table was observed at 830.92, and the 
proposed pit floor is at elevation 840.00. 
 

1. New Comments: Will on-site vibration monitoring be done during blasting and 
crushing operations?  Concerns have been raised regarding adjacent properties and 
potential damage nearby infrastructure associated with on-site operations.  This type 
of monitoring is typically required to protect adjacent properties and to address 
liability issues in this industry.  Please share how the site operations will address this 
concern and be consistent with city regulations.  We would recommend adding a 
note to the plan set to document how the site operations will comply with city and 
industry standards.    
 
General Note 21 regarding vibration monitoring has been added on sheet 1. 

 
We trust the noted plan revisions and/or explanations will adequately address the 
conditions listed above.  Should you have any further questions or comments, please do not 
hesitate to contact this office. 
 
Best Regards, 
 

 
 
Justin Daigneault 
Project Manager 

36 of 77

http://www.graniteeng.com/


TABLE OF CONTENTS
GRANITE

ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

SHEET NO.

N

N

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

GRAVEL AND EARTH REMOVAL PLAN

G2 HOLDINGS, LLC
KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 &  8

SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1
57 ROUTE 9

KEENE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
CHESHIRE COUNTY CIVIL ENGINEER:

SURVEYOR:

WETLAND SCIENTIST:

OWNER & APPLICANT:

SOIL SCIENTIST:

HYDROGEOLOGIST:

REVISIONS

No. DATE COMMENTS BY

STAMP:

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
DE

TA
IL

S.
dw

g,
 8

/2
1/

20
25

 1
1:

38
:1

4 
AM

37 of 77



SULLIVAN
KEENE

ROXBURY
KEENE

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
o
.

D
A

T
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

B
Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
E

R
/A

P
P

L
IC

A
N

T
:

OVERVIEW PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
SI

TE
.d

w
g,

 8
/2

1/
20

25
 1

2:
29

:5
8 

PM

38 of 77



H

H

H

GR
ID

0' 50' 100' 150'

39 of 77



HHH

H
H

HHH

H

GR
ID

0' 200' 400' 600'

40 of 77



GROUNDWATER PROFILE                                                           

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
o
.

D
A

T
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

B
Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
E

R
/A

P
P

L
IC

A
N

T
:

CONTEXT PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
CO

N
TE

XT
 P

LA
N

.d
w

g,
 8

/2
1/

20
25

 1
2:

09
:1

7 
PM

41 of 77



PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
o
.

D
A

T
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

B
Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
E

R
/A

P
P

L
IC

A
N

T
:

EXCAVATION,
DRAINAGE & EROSION

CONTROL PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
SI

TE
.d

w
g,

 8
/2

1/
20

25
 1

1:
48

:5
3 

AM

42 of 77



PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
o
.

D
A

T
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

B
Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
E

R
/A

P
P

L
IC

A
N

T
:

EXCAVATION,
DRAINAGE & EROSION

CONTROL PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
SI

TE
.d

w
g,

 8
/2

1/
20

25
 1

1:
51

:1
9 

AM

43 of 77



SULLIVAN
KEENE

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
o
.

D
A

T
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

B
Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
E

R
/A

P
P

L
IC

A
N

T
:

EXCAVATION,
DRAINAGE & EROSION

CONTROL PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
SI

TE
.d

w
g,

 8
/2

1/
20

25
 1

1:
52

:0
6 

AM

44 of 77



SULLIVAN
KEENE

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
o
.

D
A

T
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

B
Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
E

R
/A

P
P

L
IC

A
N

T
:

EXCAVATION,
DRAINAGE & EROSION

CONTROL PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
SI

TE
.d

w
g,

 8
/2

1/
20

25
 1

1:
55

:2
0 

AM

45 of 77



SULLIVAN
KEENE

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
o
.

D
A

T
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

B
Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
E

R
/A

P
P

L
IC

A
N

T
:

EXCAVATION,
DRAINAGE & EROSION

CONTROL PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
SI

TE
.d

w
g,

 8
/2

1/
20

25
 1

1:
53

:4
7 

AM

46 of 77



PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
o
.

D
A

T
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

B
Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
E

R
/A

P
P

L
IC

A
N

T
:

EXCAVATION,
DRAINAGE & EROSION

CONTROL PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
SI

TE
.d

w
g,

 8
/2

1/
20

25
 1

1:
54

:3
5 

AM

47 of 77



PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
o
.

D
A

T
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

B
Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
E

R
/A

P
P

L
IC

A
N

T
:

IMPACT CONTROL &
MONITORING PLAN

P:\
3\

23
02

01
1\

dw
g\

Pr
od

uc
tio

n P
lan

s\2
30

20
11

-IC
&M

 PL
AN

.dw
g, 

8/
21

/2
02

5 1
1:5

9:2
8 A

M

48 of 77



PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
o
.

D
A

T
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

B
Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
E

R
/A

P
P

L
IC

A
N

T
:

IMPACT CONTROL &
MONITORING PLAN

“ ”

“ ”

P:\
3\

23
02

01
1\

dw
g\

Pr
od

uc
tio

n P
lan

s\2
30

20
11

-IC
&M

 PL
AN

.dw
g, 

8/
21

/2
02

5 1
2:0

0:2
7 P

M

49 of 77



SULLIVAN
KEENE

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
o
.

D
A

T
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

B
Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
E

R
/A

P
P

L
IC

A
N

T
:

IMPACT CONTROL &
MONITORING PLAN

P:\
3\

23
02

01
1\

dw
g\

Pr
od

uc
tio

n P
lan

s\2
30

20
11

-IC
&M

 PL
AN

.dw
g, 

8/
21

/2
02

5 1
2:0

3:4
5 P

M

50 of 77



SULLIVAN
KEENE

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
o
.

D
A

T
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

B
Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
E

R
/A

P
P

L
IC

A
N

T
:

IMPACT CONTROL &
MONITORING PLAN

P:\
3\

23
02

01
1\

dw
g\

Pr
od

uc
tio

n P
lan

s\2
30

20
11

-IC
&M

 PL
AN

.dw
g, 

8/
21

/2
02

5 1
2:0

4:3
5 P

M

51 of 77



SULLIVAN
KEENE

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
o
.

D
A

T
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

B
Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
E

R
/A

P
P

L
IC

A
N

T
:

IMPACT CONTROL &
MONITORING PLAN

P:\
3\

23
02

01
1\

dw
g\

Pr
od

uc
tio

n P
lan

s\2
30

20
11

-IC
&M

 PL
AN

.dw
g, 

8/
21

/2
02

5 1
2:0

2:1
6 P

M

52 of 77



PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
o
.

D
A

T
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

B
Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
E

R
/A

P
P

L
IC

A
N

T
:

IMPACT CONTROL &
MONITORING PLAN

P:\
3\

23
02

01
1\

dw
g\

Pr
od

uc
tio

n P
lan

s\2
30

20
11

-IC
&M

 PL
AN

.dw
g, 

8/
21

/2
02

5 1
2:0

5:2
0 P

M

53 of 77



SULLIVAN
KEENE

SULLIVAN
KEENE

MONITORING PLAN

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
o
.

D
A

T
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

B
Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
E

R
/A

P
P

L
IC

A
N

T
:

�
 

- �

- - - “
” 

“ ” 

P:\
3\

23
02

01
1\

dw
g\

Pr
od

uc
tio

n P
lan

s\2
30

20
11

-W
EL

L.d
wg

, 8
/2

1/
20

25
 12

:23
:20

 PM

54 of 77



PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
o
.

D
A

T
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

B
Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
E

R
/A

P
P

L
IC

A
N

T
:

RECLAMATION PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
RE

CL
AM

AT
IO

N
 P

LA
N

.d
w

g,
 8

/2
1/

20
25

 1
2:

12
:4

5 
PM

55 of 77



SULLIVAN
KEENE

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
o
.

D
A

T
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

B
Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
E

R
/A

P
P

L
IC

A
N

T
:

RECLAMATION PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
RE

CL
AM

AT
IO

N
 P

LA
N

.d
w

g,
 8

/2
1/

20
25

 1
2:

13
:5

7 
PM

56 of 77



STORMWATER 

MANAGEMENT REPORT 

 

GRANITE ENGINEERING 

civil engineering ● land planning ● municipal services 

GORDON SERVICES - KEENE 

Keene: Map 215; Lots 7 & 8 

Sullivan: Map 5; Lots 46 & 46-1 

57 Route 9 

Keene & Sullivan, New Hampshire 
January 22, 2025 

Revised: August 6, 2025 

Revised: August 22, 2025 

 
PREPARED FOR: 

G2 HOLDINGS, LLC 
250 NORTH STREET 
JAFFREY, NH 03452 

 
PREPARED BY: 

GRANITE ENGINEERING, LLC 
150 DOW STREET, TOWER 2, SUITE 421 

MANCHESTER, NH 03101 
603.518.8030 

GE Project No. 23-0201-1 

57 of 77

justind
Stamp

justind
Stamp

justind
Typewritten Text
08/22/25



 

  

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

I. INTRODUCTION 

A. Project Description 

The subject properties propose the expansion of an existing gravel and 
earth removal operation for G2 Holdings, LLC. The properties are located 
at 57 Route 9 in Keene and Sullivan, New Hampshire. The majority of the 
site is located within the Keene R (Rural) Zoning District. A proposed gravel 
road will be constructed to access various points on the site. Stormwater 
runoff will be managed through a series of sediment basins that connect to 
an existing infiltration pond.  

B. Existing Site Conditions 

Keene Tax Map 215 Lot 7 is approximately 78.4 acres in area. Keene Tax 
Map 215 Lot 8 is approximately 23.1 acres in area. Sullivan Tax Map 5 Lot 
46 is approximately 169.0 acres in area. Tax map 5 Lot 46-1 is 
approximately 28.1 acres in area. The total area of all four subject properties 
is therefore 298.6 acres in area. The property is currently developed with a 
gravel removal operation. There are wetlands on the properties to the north 
and east. There is an existing, previously permitted, stormwater basin 
located to the south of the property, closest to Route 9.  

According to the Site Specific Soil Survey, the predominant onsite soil types 
are Sunapee, Tunbridge Lyman Rock Outcrop, and Lyman.  

Please refer to sections three (3) and eight (8) of this stormwater report for 
project specific NRCS soils and SSSS report information. 

II. STORM DRAINAGE ANALYSIS & DESIGN  

A. Methodology 

The purpose of this analysis was to determine if the proposed sediment 
ponds could capture, detain, and release the stormwater flows through 
small, controlled, outlet pipes to both the existing infiltration area located 
currently on-site, as well as the proposed infiltration area to be completed 
during the final phase of the project (Period 8). 

In accordance with generally accepted engineering practice, the 2-year, 10-
year, 25-year, 50-year and 100-year frequency storm has been used in the 
various aspects of analysis and design of stormwater management 
considerations for the subject site. Stormwater treatment provisions and all 
drainage facilities have been designed to be fully functional during a 50-
year return frequency storm.   

58 of 77



 

  

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

In appreciation of the benefits and limitations related to each of the various 
methods available to design professionals for estimating peak stormwater 
discharge rates for use in analysis and design, the TR-20 computer model 
was used. Values for Time of Concentration used in the analysis were 
estimated using the methodology contained within USDA-S.C.S. publication 
Urban Hydrology for Small Watersheds Technical Release No. 55 (TR 55). 

All proposed stormwater inlet structures were designed to remain under 
inlet control throughout a design storm of the return frequency noted. Outlet 
protection for each discharging culvert was designed in accordance with the 
methodology for the “best management practice”, in accordance with a 
publication entitled New Hampshire Stormwater Manual Volume 2: Post-
Construction Best Management Practices Selection and Design. In addition, 
this publication served as the primary reference for the numerous temporary 
and permanent erosion control methods incorporated into the design of this 
project. 

All design and analysis calculations performed using the referenced 
methodologies are attached to this report. The minimum time of 
concentrations used for the analysis is 6 minutes. These calculations 
document each catchment area, a breakdown of surface type, time of 
concentration, rainfall intensity, peak discharge volume, Manning’s “n” value, 
peak velocity, and other descriptive design data for each watershed and 
pipe segment evaluated. In addition, the “Post Development Drainage Area 
Plans” graphically define and illustrate the extent of each watershed or 
catchment area investigated. 

B. Post-Development Drainage Conditions 

In order to evaluate the impact of the proposed development, two (2) Point 
of Analysis (POA) was analyzed to demonstrate that the peak rates of runoff 
would not increase from the site improvements. 

The first POA, Link A, is located in the wetlands adjacent to Route 9 and 
directly south of the proposed project area.  Within the wetlands, there is an 
18” culvert directing runoff to the southern side of Route 9.  This culvert has 
been shown on DOT Reference plans.   

The second POA, Link B, is located in the wetlands directly to the east of 
the project area.   Within the wetlands, there is an box culvert directing runoff 
to the southern side of Route 9.   

Pre-development peak rates of discharge are identified in Table 2.  Further 
explanation of the post-condition hydrology will show a net decrease to the 
point of analysis.  

59 of 77



 

  

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

For a more visual description of the information presented in this section, 
please refer to the attached “Pre-Development Drainage Areas Plan” 
attached in the appendix of this report.  

The analysis for the development of the site is broken into two segments, 
Interim and Final.  “Interim Development” is in reference to the development 
of the site from Period 1 through Period 7.  Once Period 7 is completed, the 
project will proceed with Period 8.  In this Period, there is an additional 
excavation in the area of Period 1.  For the construction of Period 8, this is 
viewed as the “Final Development”.   

Stormwater from within the project area is managed by multiple sediment 
basins/detention ponds around each work area. These detention ponds are 
represented in the HydroCAD model and are denoted as SF 5, SF6, and 
SF7. The intent of the grading of the pit areas, as well as the haul roads, 
was to keep the stormwater self-contained, with no runoff during a 50-year, 
24-hour storm event.  

Within the HydroCAD Model, all significant grading for the excavation pits 
and detention basins was assigned as a grass surface and a hydrologic soil 
group ‘D’. 

The detention basins mentioned above are designed to withhold and slowly 
discharge stormwater runoff to the infiltration basins near the lower portion 
of the project.  During the project, in Period 1, the Infiltration Basin SF1 will 
be constructed to handle the runoff from the project site and infiltrate into 
the soil.  Once Period 7 is completed, the project will move forward with 
Period 8.  In this Period, Infiltration Basin SF8 will be constructed and will 
observe the runoff that originally was directed to SF1. 

The proposed infiltration area was designed to use exfiltration though the 
native soils as its only means of outlet. Infiltration rates for the infiltration 
ponds were calculated by the default method as set forth in Env-Wq 
1054.14. The practice is located in an area identified in the Soil Series 
Survey as Berkshire, Fine Sandy Loam Soils. Using Ksat values for New 
Hampshire Soils, Soil Scientists of Northern New England, Special 
Publications No. 5, September 2009, the lowest value associated with 
Berkshire soils is 0.6 inches per hour. Using a safety factor of 2, the 
infiltration rate utilized in the drainage analysis is 0.3 inches per hour.  

Bedrock monitoring wells SLR3, SLR10, and BRW-12 were used to 
determine the floor elevation of both the temporary pond in period 1 and the 
final infiltration pond in period 8, maintaining 6 feet above the water table.  

The results of the drainage analysis determined that the stormwater was 
infiltrated in its entirety during a 50-year, 24-hour storm event. The self-

60 of 77



 

  

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

contained 50-year storm event for both the Interim and Final Development 
of the project.  This was done through capturing stormwater in large 
sediment basins with small, controlled outlet devices to release stormwater 
in a controlled manner and by directing stormwater to the infiltration area.  

During the 100-yr, 24-hour storm event, both the Interim and Final 
Development of the project provide a decrease in peak flow rate that 
discharge to the two points of analysis.   

For a more visual description of the information presented in this section, 
please refer to the attached “Post-Development Drainage Areas Plan” 
attached in the appendix of this report. 

All of these ponds provide adequate storage to offset the peak rates of 
runoff for the design storms. The detailed hydrologic and hydraulic 
relationship of each sub-catchment is described within the HydroCAD 
stormwater modeling, also contained in the appendix of this report. 

The peak stormwater runoff rate for the specific storm frequency is 
presented and analyzed in the subsequent summary section of this report, 
for the point of analysis (Table 1).  

 

C. Summary: 

TABLE 1: CHANNEL PROTECTION REQUIREMENTS 

 

Site Pre-Development vs. Post-Development 
(Storm Volume in Acre-Feet) 

Analysis 
Point 

2-Year 

Pre Interim Post 

A 1.011 0.795 0.795 

B 5.037 3.902 3.902 

 

 

 

 

61 of 77



 

  

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

 

TABLE 2: PEAK RUNOFF (ENV-WQ 1507.06) 

 

Site Pre-Development vs. Post-Development (Peak Discharge Rate in cfs) 

Analysis 
Point 

2-Year 10-Year 25-Year 

Pre Interim Post Pre Interim Post Pre Interim Post 

A 4.07 3.47 3.47 11.06 8.71 8.71 17.43 13.39 13.39 

B 19.72 15.86 15.86 61.33 46.94 46.94 101.14 76.24 76.24 

 

Site Pre-Development vs. Post-Development                            
(Peak Discharge Rate in cfs) 

Analysis 
Point 

50-Year 100-Year 

Pre Interim Post Pre Interim Post 

A 23.78 17.98 17.98 31.70 23.63 23.63 

B 141.45 105.66 105.66 192.17 142.52 142.52 

 

 

 

TABLE 3: PEAK STORMWATER POND ELEVATION 

 

 

 

Site Post Development (Peak Pond Elevation) 

Description 50-Year 100-Year 

 Post - Interim Final Post - Interim Final 

Stormwater Basin Berm Elevation 874.00 856.00 874.00 856.00 

Peak Water Elevation 873.04 854.40 873.66 855.32 

62 of 77



 

  

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

III. EROSION & SEDIMENTATION CONTROL PROVISIONS 

A. Temporary Erosion Control Measures 

Temporary erosion and sediment control measures are indicated on the 
design plans, construction details, general notes and within the drainage 
report.   Although not integral with this stormwater report, due to the size of 
the proposed development both temporary and permanent erosion control 
measures will also be specified within the project’s Stormwater Pollution 
Prevention Plan (SWPPP).  All erosion control measures specified are 
designed to reduce or eliminate potential soil migration and water quality 
degradation, both during and after the construction period. 

The following temporary erosion control measures will be implemented; 

• Silt Fence and/or Silt Logs 

• Erosion Control Blankets on slopes 3:1 and steeper 

• Riprap Aprons & Spillway Stabilization 

• Turf Establishment  - Hydroseeding with mulch and tackifiers 

• Stone Check Dams  

• Temporary Sediment Basins 

These temporary erosion control measures are also discussed in the 
projects. Operation and Maintenance plan contained in the appendices of 
this report. 

In addition to the above-listed erosion control measures, references are 
made throughout the project documents to the New Hampshire Stormwater 
Manual; Volume 3: Erosion and Sediment Temporary Controls During 
Construction for additional measures, as necessary. 

B. Construction Sequence 

A site-specific construction sequence sensitive to limiting soil loss due to 
erosion and associated water quality degradation was prepared specifically 
for this project and is shown on the project plans.  As pointed out in the 
erosion control notes, it is important for the contractor to recognize that 
proper judgment in the implementation of work will be essential if erosion is 
to be limited and protection of completed work is to be realized. Moreover, 
any specific changes in sequence and/or field conditions affecting the ability 
of specific erosion control measures to adequately serve their intended 
purpose should be reported to this office by the contractor. Furthermore, the 
contractor is encouraged to supplement specified erosion control measures 
during the construction period where and when in his/ her best judgment, 
additional protection is warranted. 

63 of 77



 

  

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

C. Permanent Erosion Control Measures 

Similar to temporary erosion control measures, all permanent erosion 
control measures are indicated on the design plans, construction details, 
general notes, drainage report, SWPPP and O & M project documents.    

The following permanent erosion control measures will be implemented; 

• Stone-lined ditches 

• Inlet & Outlet Protection - Riprap Stabilization 

• Stormwater Basins with multi-stage outlets 

• Turf Establishment  - Hydroseeding with mulch and tackifiers  

Each of the above-mentioned permanent erosion control measures are 
designed in a project-specific manner within both state and local regulatory 
compliance standards. 

  

64 of 77



 

 

               GORDON SERVICES – KEENE PIT 

ACID MINE DRAINAGE MONITORING PROGRAM 
 

 

www.frontiergeoservices.com 

 

 

57 Route 9, Keene, New Hampshire 

City of Keene Tax Map 215 Block 7 

Town of Sullivan Tax Map 583 Lot 46 & 46-1 
 

Prepared For: 

 
Gordon Services  

250 North Street 

Jaffrey, New Hampshire 03452 

 

Prepared By: 
 

FRONTIER GEOSERVICES 

127 OLD WARNER ROAD 

BRADFORD, NEW HAMPSHIRE 03221 
 

Joel Banaszak, P.G.  

(603)  748-3715 

Jbanaszak@frontiergeoservices.com 

 

August 21, 2025 
Frontier Project No. 2024012 

65 of 77



 

 

Gordon Services - Keene   Frontier Geoservices 

Project #2024012 1 August 2025 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

A comprehensive groundwater and surface water monitoring program will be implemented at the 

Site to evaluate potential impacts from acid mine drainage (AMD). Monitoring will include quarterly 

sampling at five groundwater wells (BRW-7, BRW-8, BRW-9, BRW-12, and proposed well BRW-13) 

and at surface water infiltration features, including a downgradient discharge station and an 

upgradient background station. pH will also be measured monthly at all monitoring wells and 

drainage basins to provide early detection of AMD. 

 

Baseline conditions will be established through two pre-excavation sampling rounds, and quarterly 

monitoring will continue in January, April, July, and October. If four consecutive quarters of results 

confirm that AMD is not being generated, the monitoring frequency may be reduced to biannual 

sampling in April and October. 

 

All samples will be analyzed for key field parameters (pH, conductivity, oxidation-reduction potential, 

dissolved oxygen, and turbidity) and dissolved/total metals (arsenic, copper, iron, manganese, nickel, 

and lead). Results will be compared to NHDES Ambient Groundwater Quality Standards (AGQS) and 

Env-Wq 1700 Surface Water Quality Regulations. The determination of AMD will be based on trends 

of decreasing pH and increasing dissolved metals, not isolated exceedances. Monitoring results will 

be submitted to the City of Keene Community Development Department within forty-five (45) days 

of collection. 

 

2.0 ACID MINE DRAINAGE DEFINITON 

Acid mine drainage is defined by highly acidic water (pH < 6 standard units) that is enriched in 

dissolved heavy metals, including arsenic, copper, iron, manganese, nickel, and lead. 

 

The identification of AMD under this program will be based on: 

• Consistent relationships between low pH values and elevated concentrations of dissolved 

heavy metals, rather than individual exceedances of standards in isolation. 

• Observed trends over time indicating a decrease in pH in conjunction with an increase in 

dissolved metals concentrations, which together are diagnostic of AMD formation. 

 

3.0 GROUNDWATER MONITORING  

Groundwater samples will be collected on a quarterly basis in January, April, July, and October from 

the following monitoring wells: 

• BRW-7 

• BRW-8 

• BRW-9 

• BRW-12 

• BRW-13 (proposed; to be installed downgradient of the entire site between the mining 

operation and Route 9) 

 

Following four (4) consecutive quarters of analytical results demonstrating that AMD is not being 

produced, the monitoring frequency may be reduced to a biannual schedule in April and October. 

Pleaser refer to Figure 1 for a Monitoring Well Location Map.  

 

 

66 of 77



 

 

Gordon Services - Keene   Frontier Geoservices 

Project #2024012 2 August 2025 

4.0       SURFACE WATER AND INFILTRATION FEATURES 

All surface water generated from excavation activities will be directed into infiltration basins. 

Monitoring of these features will include: 

• The infiltration feature currently located in the western portion of Period 8. 

• Newly constructed infiltration features, which will be incorporated into the program on an 

iterative basis as the project progresses. 

• A downgradient surface water station located at the primary discharge point of the 

infiltration system. 

• An upgradient background surface water station, SWS-6, to provide baseline comparison 

data. 

 

5.0 SAMPLING PARAMETERS 

At each quarterly monitoring location (groundwater wells and surface water stations), the following 

parameters will be measured: 

• Field parameters: pH, specific conductance, oxidation-reduction potential, dissolved 

oxygen, and turbidity. 

• Laboratory analyses: dissolved and total metals, including arsenic, copper, iron, manganese, 

nickel, and lead via EPA Method 200.8 ICP-MS.  

 

6.0 BASELINE MONITORING   

Prior to initiation of excavation activities, two (2) rounds of baseline samples will be collected from 

all identified monitoring locations. Sampling events will be conducted a minimum of fourteen (14) 

calendar days apart. 

 

7.0 MONTHLY PH MONITORING  

In addition to the quarterly monitoring described above, pH will be measured on a monthly basis at: 

• All surface water drainage basins, including newly constructed infiltration features. 

• All groundwater monitoring wells (BRW-7, BRW-8, BRW-9, BRW-12, and BRW-13). 

 

This supplemental monitoring provides an early-warning mechanism to identify AMD generation 

between comprehensive quarterly sampling events. 

 

8.0 APPLICABLE REGULATORY STANDARDS 

Applicable standards for the monitoring program are established under two regulatory frameworks: 

• Groundwater: NHDES Env-Or 600 Contaminated Site Management, Table 600-1 Ambient 

Groundwater Quality Standards (AGQS).  

• Surface Water: NHDES Env-Wq 1700 Surface Water Quality Regulations.  

For groundwater, standards for heavy metals are applied to dissolved concentrations, which are 

considered the most representative measure of bioavailability. Some heavy metals may naturally 

occur at concentrations exceeding applicable standards. In such cases, baseline sampling will be used 

to establish background concentrations. The determination that AMD is contributing to elevated 

67 of 77



 

 

Gordon Services - Keene   Frontier Geoservices 

Project #2024012 3 August 2025 

metals will be based on the observance of increasing dissolved metal concentrations coupled with 

decreasing pH values, rather than on single exceedances. 

 

Groundwater Quality Standards (Env-Or 600, Table 600-1 AGQS) 

Specific Conductance: No Standard 

Oxidation Reduction Potential (ORP): No Standard 

Dissolved Oxygen: No Numeric Standard (field indicator) 

Turbidity: 10 NTU above natural background 

pH: No Numeric Standard (field indicator) 

Arsenic: 5 µg/L 

Copper: 1,300 µg/L 

Iron: 300 µg/L 

Manganese: 300 µg/L 

Nickel: 100 µg/L 

Lead: 15 µg/L 

 

Surface Water Quality Standards (Env-Wq 1700) 

Specific Conductance: No Standard 

Oxidation Reduction Potential (ORP): No Standard 

Dissolved Oxygen: Narrative Criterion (generally ≥ 75% saturation or 5 mg/L to support aquatic life) 

Turbidity: 10 NTU above natural background 

pH: Narrative Criterion (generally 6.5–8.0 SU; not below 6.0 SU) 

Arsenic: 150 µg/L (a,b) 

Copper: 2.3 µg/L (b,c) 

Iron: 1,000 µg/L 

Manganese: No Numeric Standard 

Nickel: 13.3 µg/L (a,c) 

Lead: 0.41 µg/L (a,c) 

 

Footnotes (from Env-Wq 1700): 

(a) Metals criteria expressed as a function of the Water Effect Ratio (WER). Values shown correspond 

to WER = 1.0; site-specific criteria shall be determined per EPA (1994) guidance. 

(b) Values for aquatic life protection are expressed as dissolved metals and, for hardness-dependent 

metals, are based on hardness of 20 mg/L. Conversion between dissolved and total recoverable 

metals must use the equations and tables in Env-Wq 1703.23. 

(c) Hardness-dependent metals criteria vary with water hardness (mg/L as CaCO3). The values 

shown correspond to hardness of 20 mg/L. Criteria for other hardness values shall be calculated 

using Env-Wq 1703.23 and Env-Wq 1703.24. 

 

68 of 77



 

 

Gordon Services - Keene   Frontier Geoservices 

Project #2024012 4 August 2025 

9.0 DATA REVIEW AND REPORTING 

All analytical results, including quarterly sampling data and monthly pH monitoring results, will be 

reviewed against the applicable groundwater and surface water quality standards described in 

Section 8.0. 

 

The determination of AMD will be based on observed trends of decreasing pH and increasing 

concentrations of dissolved heavy metals, in accordance with the definition provided in Section 2.0. 

 

Results will be submitted to the City of Keene Community Development Department within forty-

five (45) days of sample collection. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

69 of 77



 

 

               GORDON SERVICES – KEENE PIT 

BRW-12 SLUG TEST DATA & RESULTS 
 

 

www.frontiergeoservices.com 

 

 

 

 

 

57 Route 9, Keene, New Hampshire 

City of Keene Tax Map 215 Block 7 

Town of Sullivan Tax Map 583 Lot 46 & 46-1 
 

Prepared For: 

 
Gordon Services  

250 North Street 

Jaffrey, New Hampshire 03452 

 

Prepared By: 
 

FRONTIER GEOSERVICES 

127 OLD WARNER ROAD 

BRADFORD, NEW HAMPSHIRE 03221 
 

Joel Banaszak, P.G.  

(603)  748-3715 

Jbanaszak@frontiergeoservices.com 

 

August 21, 2025 
Frontier Project No. 2024012 

70 of 77



 

 

Gordon Services - Keene   Frontier Geoservices 

Project #2024012 1 August 2025 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

A slug test was performed in monitoring well BRW‑12 (2‑inch diameter PVC in a 3‑inch borehole). 

The well is 90 ft deep, screened from 30–90 ft bgs. The producing interval extends from 30–78 ft bgs. 

At the time of testing, static water level was measured at 59.4 ft bgs, yielding an effective saturated 

thickness of ~18.6 ft. The well screen below the water table therefore fully penetrated the saturated 

thickness during the test. 

 

2.0 METHODS 

Head displacement, H(t), was defined as the instantaneous change in water level relative to the static 

condition. The maximum displacement, H0, was identified at the start of recovery, and subsequent 

measurements (t≥t0) were normalized as the ratio H/H0. Recovery data were then plotted as ln(H/H0) 

versus elapsed time (trel), and a straight-line fit was applied over the intermediate range of normalized 

displacement (0.2≤H/H0≤0.8). This mid-range window is standard practice, as it minimizes the 

influence of early-time turbulence and late-time storage or boundary effects, producing the most 

reliable estimate of the aquifer response. 

 

Bouwer & Rice Equation 

 

For a fully penetrating well in an unconfined aquifer, Bouwer & Rice (1976, 1989) give: 

 

    K = (α · r_cK · ln(Rₑ/r_w)) / (2L) 

 

where: 

• α = slope of semilog fit (1/min) 

• r_c = casing radius (ft) 

• r_w = well radius (ft) 

• Rₑ = effective radius of influence (ft) 

• L = submerged screen length (ft) 

 

For this test:  

• r_c = 0.0833 ft 

• r_w = 0.125 ft; 

• Rₑ = 1.5 x b_eff = 27.9 ft. 

• L = b_eff = 18.6 ft;  

 

The regression yielded a decay constant α ≈ 0.4046 min⁻N with RK = 0.995. Substituting into the 

Bouwer & Rice equation with ln(Rₑ/r_w) = 5.814, the calculated hydraulic conductivity is: 

 

    K ≈ 0.633 ft/day  (≈ 0.316 in/hr) 

 

71 of 77



 

 

Gordon Services - Keene   Frontier Geoservices 

Project #2024012 2 August 2025 

 
 

3.0 CONCLUSION  

The slug test at BRW‑12 indicates an upper‑bound hydraulic conductivity of ~0.63 ft/day, equivalent 

to an infiltration capacity of ~0.32 in/hr.  

 

4.0       REFERENCES 

Bouwer, H., and R.C. Rice (1976). A slug test for determining hydraulic conductivity of unconfined 

aquifers with completely or partially penetrating wells. Water Resources Research, 12(3), 423–428. 

 

Bouwer, H. (1989). The Bouwer and Rice slug test—an update. Ground Water, 27(3), 304–309. 

 

Butler, J.J., Jr. (1998). The Design, Performance, and Analysis of Slug Tests. Lewis Publishers. 

 

Hvorslev, M.J. (1951). Time Lag and Soil Permeability in Ground‑Water Observations. U.S. Army 

Corps of Engineers, Waterways Experiment Station Bulletin 36. 

72 of 77



 

 

3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 

 

(603) 352-5440 

KeeneNH.gov  

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   Planning Board   
 
FROM:   Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 

 
THROUGH:  Paul Andrus, Community Development Director 
 
DATE:   August 12, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Recommendation from the Master Plan Steering Committee regarding the 

City of Keene 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan   

Recommendation: 

1. To refer to the City of Keene 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan to City Council for 
endorsement. 

2. To set a public hearing date for the adoption of the 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan on 
Monday, September 29, 2025 at 6:30 PM.  

Background: 

The Master Plan Steering Committee, which was formed by vote of the Planning Board in 
December 2023 to guide and assist with updating the City of Keene 2010 Comprehensive Master 
Plan, began meeting in February of 2024 to provide input and guidance throughout the planning 
and visioning process. The 16 members of the Committee attended monthly meetings, tabled at 
events, participated in visioning sessions and other community events, filled out detailed 
prioritization surveys, and provided valuable feedback to staff and the consultant team. For 
example, following an intensive period of public engagement in the summer of 2024, the Master 
Plan Steering Committee held two workshops to identify and frame the key pillars of the plan, 
which were then refined during the October 2024 “Future Summit” where the community vision 
was first presented to the public. The Committee also played a lead role in building out the desired 
future land uses for the Future Land Use Map and assisted with refining and prioritizing action 
steps for implementation of the plan. The input from this committee was invaluable to this 
project. At their most recent meeting on August 12, 2025, the Committee voted to recommend 
that the Planning Board refer the Master Plan to City Council for endorsement and set a public 
hearing date for formal adoption of the plan. 

Overview of the 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan: 

The Master Plan document is split into six major sections, described on the following pages. Each 
of these sections is directly related to a step in the planning process, as articulated in Section 1.1. 
“How to Read this Plan” on page 10 of the document.  

73 of 77

https://keenemasterplan.com/vision-keene-nh/project-overview/steering-committee/


 

 

Section One gives an overview of 
the planning process, the 
community vision, and the structure 
of the plan, which is built around six 
strategic pillars. 

Section Two provides a snapshot of 
the Keene community using data to 
describe the City’s current 
demographics, economic indicators, 
and livability. This section also 
includes an overview of population 
projections. 

Section Three describes seven 
major themes that were identified 
throughout the planning process 
that weave throughout the plan and 
provide important connections 
between the strategic pillars. These 
themes reflect the core values and 
culture of the community articulated 
by the Keene community throughout 
the planning process. 

 

Figure 2. A graphic showing the seven themes of the plan: Sustainability, Education, Accessibility, Public Health, Collaboration, 
Region, and Leadership. 

Section Four provides a deep dive into each of the six strategic pillars that provide the organizing 
framework for the plan (Figure 3). They are core elements that underpin the community vision 
and are used to group goals and actions.  

Section Five is the Future Land Use section of the plan that illustrates the desired future land use 
patterns that emerged from the community vision (Figure 4). These general land use categories 
focus more on the experience of a particular land use area based on the land use pattern, area 
identity, means of transportation, and scale.  

Section Six provides a framework for implementation of the plan using a matrix that lists all the 
identified actions steps, organized by Pillar and Goal, and assigns each of them a priority level 
(low, medium, or high) and indicates the City’s role (lead, participate, or support). Supporting 
information, including the prioritization survey results and a matrix of action steps with 
implementation timeframes, is included in the Appendices. 

Figure 1. This graphic shows the relationship between different components of 
the plan, including the vision, themes, pillars, goals, and action steps. 

74 of 77



 

 

 

Figure 3. A graphic that shows the six strategic pillars of the 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan centered around the vision, which 
is described as "Regional Magnetism - Collaborative approaches that generate innovative change." 

 
Figure 4. Future Land Use Map 

75 of 77



20 Portsmouth Ave. Suite 1, No. 225 
Stratham, NH 03885 

 Telephone: (603) 242-1503 
www.icelegal.com 

Ice Legal, P.A. 
20 PORTSMOUTH AVE. SUITE 1, NO. 225, STRATHAM, NH 03885• TELEPHONE (603) 242-1503 

 
 

 
August 8, 2025 

Planning Board 
City of Keene 
3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 
Via email: mbrunner@keenenh.gov 
  mfortson@keenenh.gov 
  
  

Re: Concerns regarding July 28, 2025 Hearing 
 
Dear Planning Board Members, 
 
I am writing on behalf of G2 Holdings, LLC regarding our concerns with respect to procedural 
irregularities at the July 28, 2025 meeting.  While we find a number of things that occurred 
during the meeting to be problematic, we focus primarily on two: 1) the holding of a hearing 
while a request for a continuance was pending; and 2) permitting ad hominem attacks against G2 
Holdings and its owner, 
 
First, as you know, at the request of your staff, we moved for a continuation of the hearing given 
that the third-party reviewers, through no fault of their own, had not completed their review.  The 
staff requested these reviews (at G2 Holdings’ expense) to help the Board apply what may be the 
most technical and least used provisions in the Keene Land Development Code (Section 25).  
The Chair did not call this continuance request to a vote until after inviting negative public 
comment on a formal proposal that had yet to be presented.  The Chair asserted  twice that this 
was “the normal procedure” (01:29:27 and 01:30:03),1 but it was not the procedure at the May 
27, 2025 hearing, where, a vote was taken on the continuance immediately even though there 
were attendees ready to speak against the project.  Nor was it the procedure at a September 26, 
2022 hearing in a totally unrelated matter.  Nor is it the procedure recommended in the Public 
Hearings section of Appendix C:  Suggested Rules of Procedure for Planning Boards of the 
Planning Board Handbook 2024 which speaks in terms of the applicant and those in favor of the 
proposal being called to speak first. See also, Meeting Mechanics of NH Land Use Boards, 
Section IV Public Hearing Procedures2 (same). 
 

 
1 Time stamp of video of Planning Board Hearing, July 28, 2025. 
22022 NHMA Land Use Law Conference; available at: 
https://www.nhmunicipal.org/sites/default/files/uploads/webinars/2022-10-
15_meeting_mechanics_handout.pdf 

76 of 77

http://www.icelegal.com/
https://www.nhmunicipal.org/sites/default/files/uploads/webinars/2022-10-15_meeting_mechanics_handout.pdf
https://www.nhmunicipal.org/sites/default/files/uploads/webinars/2022-10-15_meeting_mechanics_handout.pdf


2 
Ice Legal, P.A. 

20 PORTSMOUTH AVE. SUITE 1, NO. 225, STRATHAM, NH 03885• TELEPHONE (603) 242-1503 

As a result, the Board listened to opposition to a formal proposal that has yet to made and which 
is in flux even as of this writing.  This out-of-context vitriol from neighbors (mostly in 
neighboring towns) can only have served to unfairly prejudice the Board and the general public 
(as evidenced by the article in the Keene Sentinel the following day) against the project and G2 
Holdings generally. 
 
Second, the Chair did not attempt to control the personal attacks against G2 Holdings and its 
owners. Appendix G of the Planning Board Handbook instructs board members not to “indulge 
in personalities [or] permit anyone else to do so.”  Section IV.D.3. of the Meeting Mechanics is 
even more blunt: “Chair should not allow personal attacks.” 
 
For example, Jim Manley stated “you’ve been lied to, I’m going to be blunt…G2 is not to be 
trusted.” 02:17:24).  Duane Nettleson said, “He doesn’t follow any regulations” (02:24:36) and 
that his building “was split in half” due to blasting” (02:7:58). Elizabeth Newcombe said, “The 
original plans showed many instances of … misrepresentation…” Joseph Vicinanzo  said, 
“They’re in arrears on a number of tax obligations…”  These are ad hominem attacks that are 
defamatory and do not reflect the “civility” for which the Chair later thanked the crowd 
(02:31:33).  The comments should not have been allowed and we hope that they will not be 
allowed going forward. 
 
The Applicant is entitled to due process.  And while the public certainly has the right to bring 
legitimate concerns to the attention of this Board, the process should be fair to all.  We trust that 
will be the case at the hearing on August 25, 2025. 
 
Thank you for your attention to this matter.  

 
 
______________________ 
Ariane Ice  
Ice Legal, P.A. 
20 Portsmouth Ave. Suite 1, No. 225 
Stratham, NH 03885 
Mobile (561) 319-5557 
ariane.ice@icelegal.com 

77 of 77


	2025_08_25_pb_agenda_AMENDED
	City of Keene Planning Board - AMENDED
	AGENDA
	Monday, August 25, 2025 6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers
	A. AGENDA ITEMS
	1) Call to Order – Roll Call
	2) Minutes of Previous Meeting – July 28, 2025

	2025_07_28_PB_Minutes_Edited
	PB-2025-01_First Extension Request_08-13-25
	August_Final Approval Recommendations Memo_AMENDED
	MEMORANDUM

	Gravel Pit_Amended Mini Packet
	PB-2024-20_Memo for August PB Meeting_REVISED 08-22-25
	MEMORANDUM - AMENDED

	Sanborn Summary_Rec. 08-22-25
	Response to Fieldstone_Rec. 08-21-25
	Plan Set_REVISED_Rec. 08-21-25_REDUCED
	Stormwater Report_REVISED_Rec. 08-21-25_snippet
	Acid Mine Drainage Monitoring Plan_AMENDED_Rec. 08-21-25
	BRW-12 Slug Test Results Report_Rec. 08-21-25

	Memo_PB to Set MP Public Hearing
	Gravel Pit_Letter From Attorney to Planning Board  08.08.25



